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Notice of Annual General Meeting

BRRERBFREBEE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting of
TCC International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held
at Gloucester Room, 2nd Floor, Mandarin Oriental, Hong Kong
Limited, 5 Connaught Road, Central, Hong Kong, 27 May 2009

at 2:30 p.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the audited financial
statements and the reports of the Directors and Auditors in

respect of the year ended 31 December 2008;
2. To appoint and re-elect Directors;

3. To authorise the board of Directors to fix the remuneration of

the Directors;

4.  To re-appoint the Auditors and to authorise the board of

Directors to fix their remuneration;

5. To consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without
amendments, the following resolution as a special resolution

of the Company:
SPECIAL RESOLUTION

“THAT the articles of association of the Company be

amended as follows:

(1) By inserting the following new definitions of “business
day(s)”, “corporate communication”, “electronic”,
“electronic means”, “Electronic Transactions Law” and

“Electronic Signature” in Article 2:

s »

business day(s)” shall mean any day on which
the Exchange is open for the business of dealing in

securities;”;
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corporate communication” shall mean any document
issued or to be issued by the Company for the
information or action of the members of the Company,

including but not limited to:

()  the directors’ report, its annual accounts together
with a copy of the auditors’ report and, where

applicable, its summary financial report;

(i) the interim report and, where applicable, its

summary interim report;

(i) a notice of meeting;

(iv) a listing document;

(v) a circular; and

(vi) a proxy form;”;
““electronic” shall have the meaning attributed to it in
the Electronic Transactions Law;”;

““electronic means” shall include sending or otherwise
making available to the intended recipients of the
communication in electronic format;”;

““Electronic Transactions Law” shall mean the
Electronic Transactions Law (2003 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands and any amendment thereto or re-
enactments thereof for the time being in force and
includes every other law incorporated therewith or
substituted therefor;”; and

““Electronic Signature” shall mean an electronic symbol
or process attached to or logically associated with an
electronic communication and executed or adopted
by a person with the intent to sign the electronic

communication;”;
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(2) By inserting the following new margin note and
paragraph immediately below the margin note “Words
in Law to bear same meaning in Articles” and the

paragraph headed by such margin note:

“section 8 of section 8 of the Electronic
Electronic Transactions  Transactions Law shall not

Law does not apply apply;”;

(8) By deleting the paragraph headed by the margin
note “writing/printing” in Article 2 in its entirety and

substituting therefor the following:

“writing/printing “writing” or “printing” shall
include writing, printing,
lithograph, photograph, type
writing and every other mode
of representing words or
figures in a legible and non-
transitory form and, only
where used in connection
with a notice served by the
Company on shareholders
or other persons entitled to
receive notices hereunder,
shall also include a record
maintained in an electronic
medium which is accessible
in visible form so as to be
useable for subsequent

reference;”;
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(4) Article 73(a) (4) RRIMBIET3(a)E

By deleting the first sentence of Article 73(a) in its

entirety and substituting therefor the following:

“An annual general meeting shall be called by notice in
writing of not less than a period which is the longer of
21 days and 20 clear business days, any extraordinary
general meeting called for the passing of a special
resolution shall be called by notice in writing of not
less than a period which is the longer of 21 days and
10 clear business days, and any other extraordinary
general meeting shall be called by notice in writing of
not less than a period which is the longer of 14 days

and 10 clear business days.”;

Article 80

By deleting Article 80 in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of

the meeting shall be decided by poll.”; and

By deleting the margin note to Article 80 in its entirety

and substituting therefor the following:

“Vote of general meeting by poll”;
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BRRBFRSES
(6) Article 81 (6) RARIABIES K

By deleting Article 81 in its entirety;

Article 82

By deleting Article 82 in its entirety;

Article 83

By deleting Article 83 in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“In the case of an equality of votes, the Chairman of the

meeting shall be entitled to a second or casting vote.”;

Article 85(a)

By deleting Article 85(a) in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“Subject to any special rights, privileges or restrictions
as to voting for the time being attached to any
class or classes of shares, at any general meeting
every member present in person (or, in the case of a
member being a corporation, by its duly authorized
representative) or by proxy shall have one vote for each
share registered in his name in the register. A member
entitled to more than one vote is under no obligation to

cast all his votes in the same way.”;
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(10) Article 92

By deleting Article 92 in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“The instrument appointing a proxy and (if required by
the Board) the power of attorney or other authority (if
any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified
copy of such power of authority, shall be delivered at
the registered office of the Company (or at such other
place as may be specified in the notice convening
the meeting or in any notice of any adjournment or, in
either case, in any document sent therewith) not less
than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding
the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person
named in the instrument proposes to vote, and in
default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as
valid provided always that the Chairman of the meeting
may at his discretion direct that an instrument of proxy
shall be deemed to have been duly deposited upon
receipt of telex or cable or facsimile confirmation from
the appointor that the instrument of proxy duly signed
is in the course of transmission to the Company. No
instrument appointing a proxy shall be valid after the
expiration of 12 months from the date named in it as
the date of its execution. Delivery of any instrument
appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from
attending and voting in person at the meeting and, in
such event, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be

deemed to be revoked.”;
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(11) Article 94

—

By deleting Article 94 in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“The instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a general
meeting shall: (a) be deemed to confer authority to vote
on any amendment of a resolution put to the meeting
for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit; and (b)
unless the contrary is stated therein, be valid as well for
any adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to
which it relates, provided that the meeting was originally

held within 12 months from such date.”;

Article 163(b)

By deleting Article 163(b) in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“Copies of those documents to be laid before the
members of the Company at an annual general
meeting shall not less than 21 days before the date
of the meeting be sent or otherwise made available
to every member of the Company and every holder
of debentures of the Company in the form of printed
copies or electronic copies as publicated on the
Company’s website, provided that where printed
copies are sent, the Company shall not be required
to send printed copies of those documents to any
person of whose address the Company is not aware or
to more than one of the jointholders of any shares or

debentures.”;
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(13) Article 167(a)

By deleting Article 167(a) in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“(i)

(if)

Any share certificate may be served by the
Company on any member either personally or
by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter
addressed to such member at his registered
address as appearing in the register; and

Any notice or other document (including any
corporate communication), whether or not, to
be given or issued under these Articles from
the Company to a member shall be in writing
or by cable, telex or facsimile transmission
message or other form of electronic transmission
or communication and any such notice and
document may be served or delivered by the
Company on or to any member either personally
or by sending it through the post in a prepaid
envelope addressed to such member at his
registered address as appearing in the register
or at any other address supplied by him to the
Company for the purpose or, as the case may
be, by transmitting it to any such address or
transmitting it to any telex or facsimile transmission
number or electronic number or address or
website supplied by him to the Company for
the giving of notice to him or which the person
transmitting the notice reasonably and bona fide
believes at the relevant time will result in the
notice being duly received by the member or may
also be served by advertisement published in the
newspapers or by placing it on the Company’s
website and giving to the member a notice stating
that the notice or other document is available there
(@ “notice of availability”). The notice of availability
may be given to the member by any of the means
set out above. In case of joint holders of a share,
all notices shall be given to that holder for the time
being one of the joint holders whose name stands
first in the register and notice so given shall be
deemed a sufficient notice to all the joint holders.”;
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(14) Article 169

By deleting Article 169 in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“(@) Any notice or document sent by post shall be

deemed to have been served on the day following
that on which it is put into a post office situated
within Hong Kong and in proving such service it
shall be sufficient to prove that the envelope or
wrapper containing the notice or document was
properly prepaid, addressed and put into such
post office and a certificate in writing signed by
the Secretary or other person appointed by the
Board that the envelope or wrapper containing the
notice or document was so addressed and put
into such post office shall be conclusive evidence
therefor. Any notice or other document delivered
or left at a registered address otherwise than by
post shall be deemed to have been served or
delivered on the day it was so delivered or left. Any
notice served by advertisement shall be deemed
to have been served on the day of issue of the
official publication and/or newspaper(s) in which
the advertisement is published (or on the last day
of issue if the publication and/or newspaper(s) are

published on different dates); and

Any notice or document sent by electronic
communication, shall be deemed to be given on
the day on which it is transmitted from the server
of the Company or its agent. A notice placed on
the Company’s website is deemed given by the
Company to a member on the day following that
on which a notice of availability is deemed served

on the member.”; and
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(15) Article 173

By deleting Article 173 in its entirety and substituting

therefor the following:

“The signature to any notice to be given by the

Company may be written or printed by means of

facsimile or by Electronic Signature.””; and

6. To consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without

amendments, the following resolutions as ordinary

resolutions of the Company:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

(A) “THAT:

(1) subject to paragraph (3) of this resolution, the
exercise by the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the
Company to allot, issue and deal with additional
shares in the share capital of the Company and
to make or grant offers, agreements and options
which might require the exercise of such powers

be and is hereby generally and unconditionally

approved;

(2) the approval in paragraph (1) of this resolution shall
authorise the Directors during the Relevant Period
to make or grant offers, agreements and options
which would or might require the exercise of such

powers after the end of the Relevant Period;
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(3) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option
or otherwise) by the Directors pursuant to the
approval in paragraph (1) of this resolution, other
than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter
defined), (i) the exercise of any option granted
under the Company’s share option scheme or (i)
any scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing
for the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole or
part of a dividend in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company, shall not exceed
20 per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of
the share capital of the Company in issue at the
date of the passing of this resolution and the said

approval shall be limited accordingly; and

(4) for the purpose of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the

passing of this resolution until whichever is the

earlier of:

()  the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company;

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by any applicable laws or the

articles of association of the Company to be

held; and
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(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary

resolution of the shareholders of the Company

in general meeting.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares open
for a period fixed by the Directors to holders
of shares on the register of members of the
Company on a fixed record date in proportion
to their then holdings of such shares (subject to
such exclusions or other arrangements as the
Directors may deem necessary or expedient in
relation to fractional entitlements or having regard
to any restrictions or obligations under the laws or

requirements of any recognised regulatory body or

any stock exchange in any territory).”

(B) “THAT:

(1) subject to paragraph (2) of this resolution, the
exercise by the Directors during the Relevant
Period (as hereinunder defined) of all the powers of
the Company to purchase shares in the capital of
the Company, subject to and in accordance with
all applicable laws and/or the requirements of any
recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange
in any territory applicable to the Company, be and

is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;
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(2) the aggregate nominal amount of the shares of
the Company which may be purchased by the
Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (1)
of this resolution during the Relevant Period shall
not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate nominal
amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue at the date of the passing of this resolution

and the said approval shall be limited accordingly;

and

(3) for the purpose of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the

passing of this resolution until whichever is the

earlier of:

()  the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company;

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by any applicable laws or the

articles of association of the Company to be

held; and

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary

resolution of the shareholders of the Company

in general meeting.”
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“THAT, conditional upon the resolutions set out in
paragraphs (A) and (B) of item 6 of the notice convening
this meeting being duly passed, the general mandate
granted to the Directors to exercise the powers of
the Company to allot, issue and deal with shares
of the Company be and is hereby extended by the
addition to the aggregate nominal amount of the
share capital which may be allotted and issued or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted
and issued by the Directors pursuant to such general
mandate of an amount representing the aggregate
nominal amount of the shares in the capital of the
Company repurchased by the Company pursuant to the
exercise by the Directors of the powers of the Company
to repurchase such shares provided that such amount
shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate nominal
value of the issued share capital of the Company as at

the date of the passing of this resolution.”

By order of the Board of

TCC International Holdings Limited

Kwok Pui Ha

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 23 April 2009
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The register of members of the Company will be closed from 25
May 2009 to 27 May 2009 (both days inclusive), during which

period no transfer of shares will be registered.

ARABH_ZETZNFREA_THEHAZE_ZEZE
NEAAZ+ERHSHE(BEEEMX) B
B BFEERLTFE X ARAE TR
ERRDBPER -

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the above meeting, all 2. REALBLAXSERRELRECZER M
transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates ERHBEPXHEREERESNER_TZTN
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong FRAZTZATFERE=1+T2F XEEAQ
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at RIZEBRNBEELIERTBFRIBHRER
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road BRAR It AESZE NEBR1835%AE MF
East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 May DTHE1712-1716F ©

2009.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is 3. AAEELELAReTREe EREZRE 9B
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in his BEA—ZXZERRARELE TREER
stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. REREEE-ZZERRBEAAERQRIRRE -
In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy and the 4, ZARRNIBEREBEAZEEENHEMITE
power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, X (B )R REBEARESEFRAZZSRE
or a notarially certified copy of such power of attorney or authority, EXEMBEEXHRAR THEERASHEME
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong B IEERITREA4NRERNRGZE
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at BRODBEPELRDEESRTRESFETLARA
Rooms 1806-1807, 18th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road A iUt A BB EF ARER1835E A I 0181
East, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for 1806-1807=%  H AE M °

holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Concerning resolution (A) set out in item 6 of this notice, approval 5. BERNBEFEHABRIZRMS RIESK

is being sought from members for a general mandate to be given
to the Directors to authorise allotment of additional shares in the
capital of the Company in the event that it becomes desirable. The
Directors have no immediate plan to issue any new shares of the

Company.

R ELTEEARS ERFEEARRFBRA
hZBEINEGD 2 —RUERE - EFRE I 5T
BRI AR AUERIBD ©
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Concerning resolution (B) set out in item 6 of this notice, approval
is being sought from members for a general mandate to be given to
the Directors to repurchase the Company’s shares. The Directors
wish to state that they will exercise the powers conferred thereby
to repurchase shares of the Company in circumstances which
they deem appropriate and beneficial for the Company and its

Shareholders.

Concerning resolution (C) set out in item 6 of this notice, approval
is being sought from members for an extension of the general
mandate given to the Directors to allot, issue and deal with
additional shares by adding to it the number of shares repurchased
under the authority granted pursuant to resolution (B) set out in item

6 of this notice.

Pursuant to the amended Rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules which
came into effect in January 2009, at any general meeting a

resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided by poll.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEREE

The global economic environment had gone through drastic
changes in 2008. While worldwide economies were in continued
prosperity during the first half of the year, few would expect to
see an abrupt turn in the tide when the year entered its third
quarter. The global economic downturn, set off by the financial
crisis in the US and Europe, had come in a pace and magnitude
the business world had never experienced before. This has put

the viability of corporations and ability of entrepreneurs to test.

Despite healthy development in the first two quarters, mainland
China began to feel the impact of deepened financial turmoil in
the second half of the year. The domestic cement market was
under pressure from both escalated energy cost and a retreated

cement demand.

While cement shipment had been delayed by severe weather
conditions in early 2008, the Group managed to maintain a
stable performance during the first half of the year. Entering the
third quarter of the year, decline in demand for cement began
to intensify, as property developers sensed the determination
and effect of the State’s austerity measures. The situation was
dampened by a deteriorating economic environment and market

sentiment.

R-ZBZNF 2REERELE T SBIEE -
ERREEN ¥ FEHEBEZEIERE KHBD
AEDRFEM B EBAE=FK KBELEHR
SHEET HBXeRAERBEE  2REER
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ZRENIRZ B BRIEZ R -

REPEAREREMEZQBRRR T BH
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BEIRA AR T RAORFT KEE A4 2 K™
BRI ERES -
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In addition to adverse external factors, the Group’s operations
were also under the pressure of increased depreciation charges
and non-operational expenses, resulting from its strategy of
strengthening market share and presence though expansion of

scale of operation.

Non-cash accounting treatment of depreciation for newly
completed production facilities and provision and expenses
for asset revaluation had inevitably weakened the Group’s
profitability. However, the Group’s cash inflow remained healthy
evidenced by an EBITDA (represents profit for the year before
the impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment, change in fair value of held-for-trading investments,
finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation and
amortisation) of HK$397.9 million during the year under review.

Despite reporting a loss for the year, the Group emerged as
a stronger market player with enhanced capacity and market
coverage. The Group’s Yingde plant has become one of the
largest cement production bases in Guangdong, with a capacity
of 9 million metric tonnes per annum. Complementing the plant’s
enormous production facilities is two environmental friendly
power generation units, beginning to function in 2009. With
residual heat generated from clinker production being recycled
for power generation, the Yingde plant can not only significantly
lower the plant’s energy cost, but also minimise residue
emission, demonstrating the Group’s commitment to a cleaner
and healthier environment.

When the second production line in Jurong becomes operational
in first quarter of 2010, the Group’s market presence in
Eastern China can be further strengthened. The Group has also
announced the plan for a third production line for the plant.

The Jurong plant’s strategic location and scheduled expansion
in clinker output will play a vital role in supporting the Group’s
Fuzhou cement grinding plant, which is currently relying on

external clinker supply.

The year 2009 will continue to be challenging, as global
economic environment remains volatile. On the other hand,
Mainland China‘s economy is expected to maintain its growth
momentum, supported by a determined central government and

a massive budget to drive domestic demand.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEREE

As a major construction material for the State’s infrastructure
development, we expect the consumption of cement will
gradually pick up approaching the second half of 2009. Cement

prices are expected to improve as demand begin to rise.

Under the current market condition, the Group will be very
cautious in deciding the application of its financial resources, and
in the implementation of its continued expansion. However, the
Group remains undeterred in its strategy of achieving long-term
earning power through the establishment of a dominant market
position, built upon massive production capacity and extensive

market coverage.

The Group’s ongoing strategy will not be distracted by short-
term temptation or periodical setback. The management will stay
focus on its objective of maximising shareholders’ value, which
should be measured by the Group’s sustainable development

both in terms of earning base and operational scale.

Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie

Chairman
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OPERATION REVIEW

Overall performance

During the second half of the year under review, the Group began
to experience the heat of deteriorating economic condition.
The mounting energy costs in the second half of the year, and
shrinking demand for cement, which entailed dropping sales
volume and selling prices, had adversely affected the gross profit

margin of the Group.

Several of the Group’s new production lines commenced
commercial operation during the year. However, they had yet
to contribute to the Group’s performance as most of them
only reached their rated capacity in the last quarter of the year.
Overall utilisation of the Group’s facilities had also been impacted
by insufficient demand due to the severe weather condition
and natural disasters pounding mainland China and adverse

economic environment during the year.

The higher depreciation charges resulting from inauguration of
new facilities also cut into the Group’s operating margins. In
addition, the Group’s bottom line was trimmed by the expenses
from the revaluation of fair value of fixed assets and provision for

impairment in value of intangible assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group reported an
audited consolidated revenue of HK$2,822.8 million, which was
54 per cent higher than that of the previous year, and a loss
attributable to shareholders of HK$155.5 million and EBITDA,
represents profit for the year before the impairment loss on
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, change in
fair value of held-for-trading investments, finance costs, income
tax expense, depreciation and amortisation, of HK$397.9 million
(2007: EBITDA on same basis: HK$443.7 million).

The Group incurred a substantial loss of HK$3.5 billion in the
year 2007. This was mainly attributable to an one-off non-cash
item of impairment of goodwill resulting from the acquisition
of Chia Hsin Cement Greater China Holding Corporation
(“CHCGCY).
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Mainland China

The consumption of cement in mainland
China had been disrupted by a series of
natural factors including the snowstorm
and heavy rain in Southern China during
the first half of the year. The situation was
worsened by the State’s macro economic
austerity measures aiming at cooling
down the overheated property market.
The aforementioned factors had forced
the cement price to decline for most part
of the year under review. On the other
hand, the significant upsurge in coal
prices had added further burden on the

cost of cement manufacturers.

In the face of an increasingly challenging
operating environment, the Group

continued to sharpen its edge by enlarging its capacity and
enhancing cost-competitiveness through energy-saving

measures.

Yingde

The Yingde plant’s overall capacity has been lifted to 9 million
metric tonnes per annum by the end of the year under review.
The plant’s third and fourth production lines completed their
tuning and testing and commenced commercial run in the last

quarter of the year.

Since the new facilities only became fully operational in the final
months of the year under review, the overall utilisation of the
Yingde plant had fallen below its normal level. In addition, the
worsening property market in Guangdong had adversely affected

the demand in Guangdong.

Although the two new production lines had yet to contribute to
the Yingde plant’s performance during the year, the plant’s sales
volume improved significantly month-on-month in the fourth
quarter of 2008.
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During the year, sales volume of the plant amounted to 5.71
million metric tonnes which was 42 per cent higher than that of

the previous year, riding on an enhanced capacity.

Increased depreciation charges due to completion of new
production lines had also shaken the profitability of the Yingde

plant.

Under the impact of under-utilisation, higher energy costs and
depreciation charges, the Yingde plant reported an operating loss

for the year.

Fuzhou

A new production line with an additional capacity of 750,000
metric tonnes at the Fuzhou plant became fully operational in the
fourth quarter of the year. Softened market demand in Fuzhou
and its neighbouring cities had forced the plant’s sales volume
down to 1.2 million metric tonnes of cement from 1.4 million in

the previous year.

Average selling price (“ASP”) of products from the Fuzhou plant
slightly increased from that of the previous year. However, the
price upsurge was not sufficient to offset increased operating
costs during the year. Since the Fuzhou plant relied on external
supply of clinker for the grinding of cement, the plant’s gross

margins had been narrowed by higher clinker costs. As a result,

the Fuzhou plant reported a mild loss for the year.
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Jurong

Responding to the State’s suspension of
rebate of value-added tax and a strong
Renminbi, the Jurong plant adjusted its
target market from export oriented to
domestic focus, and sold over 87 per
cent of its cement to domestic market
during the year. To effectively control
its production cost, the Jurong plant
tightened its total output to minimise the
purchase of clinker from external sources.
The plant’s sales volume during the year
amounted to 2.75 million metric tonnes,
which was 25 per cent less than that of

the previous year.

During the year, the Jurong plant also incurred additional
expenses resulting from the revaluation of fair value of land and
equipment, and the streamlining of the operations’ corporate
structure. In addition, there was a provision for the write off of

intangible assets under the Jurong operations.

The reduction in sales volume along with a lower ASP and higher
operating expenses contributed to a loss for the Jurong plant

during the year.

AKB

The sales volume of the Anhui King Bridge Cement Company
Limited (“AKB”) plant amounted to approximately 550,000 metric
tonnes for the year. Despite an adjustment in its sales volume
when compared with that of the previous year, the gross profit
margin of the AKB plant increased to 23 per cent from 17 per
cent of the previous year, due to improved ASP of slag powder
and reduced transportation cost as a result of AKB’s strategy of
concentrating its sales to nearby region. As such, the AKB plant

reported a 18 per cent increase in profit after tax during the year.
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Liuzhou

A new production line of the Group’s 60 per cent owned slag
powder joint venture in Liuzhou became fully operational in the
second quarter of the year under review. The additional capacity
had come in time to meet strong market demand and contributed
to a 55 per cent increase year-on-year in sales volume to 1.01
million metric tonnes. Strong selling prices and the plant’s
improved sales volume led to a 27 per cent surge in profit after

tax.

Hong Kong

The Group’s cement trading and concrete businesses in Hong
Kong reported a strong performance during the year with a 146
per cent growth in profit after tax. This was mainly attributable
to an increased gross margin resulting from a significant
improvement in cement and concrete prices that had exceeded

the upsurge in costs.

The Philippines

As the Group was in the process of reviewing the status of
its cement handling services in Manila, the Philippines. The
discontinuation of income from the Philippines had impacted the

bottom line of the Group.

Other significant investments held

The Group has partially disposed an available-for-sale
investments and recorded a gain of HK$8.2 million during
the year. A net decrease in fair value of HK$61.6 million was

recognized for held-for-trading investments upon stating them at

market prices as at 31 December 2008.
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Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure
The Group adopts prudent treasury policies in managing cash

resources and bank borrowings.

Total unrestricted cash and bank balances of the Group as at
31 December 2008 amounted to HK$1,033.6 million, of which
17.1%, 4.1% and 77.4% were denominated in HK$, US$ and
RMB respectively. Highly liquid short term investments, classified
as held-for-trading investments, with a market value of HK$257.8

million as at 31 December 2008, were also held by the Group.

The maturity profile of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31

December 2008 are as follows:
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RITIEE -

RZBZNF+_A=1+—HB A5BER
& RIR1T A #4858 51,033,600,00078 7T &
F171% 41%R77.4% D RIAE T ETLRA
REAEEEEMN - R _SENF+_A=1+—
H AEERRRAERTAIERIRE mi5E
{B/4257,800,0008 T R DB ARFERSABZ
BAE -

RZZBZNF+_A=+—H AEBRTE
EZEHFBET:
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Amount repayable: ERUTHEEEREH:
On demand or within one year R—FAEERER 1,440,520 1,005,362
More than one year but not exceeding BiE—FE T HBAMRE
two years 1,287,029 912,030
More than two years but not exceeding BBMEENBARSE
five years 822,970 1,105,698
Total bank loans RITERAT 3,550,519 38,023,090

As at 31 December 2008, HK$1,103.6 million of the bank
loans was denominated in HK$, HK$802.1 million in US$ and
HK$1,644.8 million in RMB. All of the bank loans are of floating

rate structures.

CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2008, deposits amounting to HK$0.5 million
have been pledged by the Group as margin for issuance of letter

of credit for the purchase of plant and equipments.

RZZEENF+-A=Z+—BZ8ITEXR:
H#H1,103,600,0008 TA B T AEKE
fif -+ 802,100,000 Jt A= T & B #E B {7 -
1,644,800,0008 TAARB BEKEN -F1E
RITERRZHHERER -

EHEE
RZZTENFE+ZA=+—H " 500,000% T2
FREBEFAEEERERBERE RXERER
BZRER -



Annual Report 2008 F 2§

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

As at 31 December 2008, certain property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments have been pledged to secure bank
borrowings of the Group with the carrying amount of HK$1,746.8

million and HK$619.9 million respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES

The Group utilized various methods to mitigate foreign currency
exposures arising from the currency mismatch of construction
material purchases and sales. To protect the benefits of
shareholders, cost-efficient hedging methods will be considered

in future foreign currency transactions.

No foreign exchange contracts were outstanding as at 31
December 2008.

MAJOR CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s capital expenditure in

respect to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
contracted but not provided for in the financial statements
amounted to approximately HK$899.9 million. The Group
anticipates funding those commitments from its future operating
revenue, bank borrowings and other sources of finance when

appropriate.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had 1,407 full-time
employees. Total expenses in wages and salaries of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2008 amounted to HK$91.1
million. Discretionary bonuses, recommended by management
and reviewed by the remuneration committee, are payable to
employees in Hong Kong and senior management of overseas
subsidiaries based on performance. In addition, the Directors
may invite employees, including executive Directors (in which
case approval of independent non-executive Directors is
required), of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
associates to take up options to subscribe for shares of the
Company. During the year, no share options were granted to

Directors or employees.
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PROSPECTS AND FUTURE INVESTMENT
PLANS

The State has earmarked four trillion Renminbi mainly for
infrastructure development, as a measure to stimulate domestic
demand. The planned development is expected to become a

major driving force for cement demand in mainland China.

However, certain of the State’s major development projects
will take time to realise. Such infrastructure developments are
expected to gradually push up cement consumption in the third

or fourth quarter of 2009.

On the other hand, oversupply of cement resulting from enlarged
capacity will continue, with most of the excess capacity
concentrating in the Yangtze River Delta region. In Guangdong,
the market’s equilibrium will be improved with an escalated

elimination of obsolete and inefficient capacity by market force.

Although price of cement in first quarter of 2009 had been
adjusted from that of December 2008, we expect the average
cement price will be strengthened in the second half of the year.
With the lowering of coal prices in recent months, there is room

for improvement in gross margins for the cement industry.

The third and fourth production lines (Phase ) of the Yingde plant
will be under commercial production for the first full year in 2009.
With facility utilisation continues to improve, the Yingde plant will
be able to further lower its unit cost, and will thus contribute to a

healthier margin.

The Yingde plant’s two power generation units using residual
heat energy have been put into action in the first quarter of 2009.
The units can help to significantly save energy costs by supplying
up to one-third of the Yingde plant’s electricity consumption.
Such saving is expected to be reflected in the plant’s 2009

performance.
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The management is reviewing the schedule for the development
of Phase Ill of the Yingde plant with an additional capacity of
4.5 million metric tonnes per annum. In light of the changing
economic conditions, the Group is taking a prudent approach
in its investment decision to minimise its exposure and control

capital expenditure.

Construction of the second production line of the Jurong
plant, with an annual capacity of 2.25 million metric tonnes,
is scheduled to be completed in the first quarter of 2010. The
increased clinker output from the additional facilities is expected
to create synergetic effect with the Group’s cement grinding plant

in Fuzhou.

Utilisation of the Fuzhou plant’s additional capacity from its
new production line will be improved in 2009. The Group is
considering various options to further strengthen its presence
in Fujian, including new facility development and mergers and

acquisition, capitalising on the industry’s consolidation.

In Guangdong, the Group is identifying a suitable site for the
development of a cement grinding base in the Pearl River Delta

region.

Despite a challenging economic environment, the Group’s
financial position remains sound with a healthy balance sheet.
The Group will persist with its strategy of cautious expansion
to further entrench its dominant position in Southern China.
To weather the global financial turmoil, the Group will adopt a
prudent approach in its fixed asset investment and operating

expense management.

With the gradual implementation of the State’s massive
infrastructure development plans and accelerated urbanisation
in the country, the cement industry will be able to resume its
growth momentum. Given the Group’s scale of operation and
market coverage in Southern China, it will be well-poised to take

advantage of the market upturn.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie

Mr. Koo, aged 54, is the Chairman of the Company and is
responsible for the overall policy and direction of the Group.
He became a Director of Hong Kong Cement Manufacturing
Company Limited (which carried on the Group cement business
in Hong Kong prior to the Group’s re-organisation in September
1997) in July 1991. He is also the vice-chairman of Quon Hing
Concrete Company Limited (“Quon Hing”) and Director of Hong
Kong Concrete Company Limited (“Hong Kong Concrete”),
both being associated companies of the Company. He holds a
bachelor degree in Accounting from the University of Washington
and a MBA degree from the Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania, the USA. He is currently the Chairman and
president of Taiwan Cement Corporation (“T’Cement”), the
ultimate holding company of the Company. Mr. Koo serves as
the Chairman of China Synthetic Rubber Corporation, Chairman
of Taiwan Prosperity Chemical Corporation, a Director of China
Steel Chemical Co., Ltd., a Director of CTCI Corporation, the
Chairman of Synpac (N.C.) Limited, USA and the Chairman of
Continental Carbon Company, USA. T'Cement, China Synthetic
Rubber Corporation, Taiwan Prosperity Chemical Corporation,
CTCI Corporation and China Steel Chemical Co., Ltd. are

companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation.

Mr. Wu Yih Chin

Mr. Wu, aged 54, is the Managing Director and executive Director
of the Company, the deputy managing Director of Hong Kong
Concrete and Directors of Quon Hing and Yargoon Company
Limited. He joined the Group in November 1993. Mr. Wu is
responsible for overall management, strategic planning and
business development for the Group. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in business administration from National Cheng Chi
University, Taiwan, and a MBA degree from the Wharton School
of the University of Pennsylvania, the USA. He has more than 30

years of experience in cement-related businesses.

=}

HITES

ERH AL

ZRERFS4R RARAESR BRERH
AIARRE EERKES R ZEER—AN—
FtAKRBEBKEERATNES  ZAAR
—NMNEtFNAEEERNKERAEBCZH
BARRER - RIPA/BEBERLERDF ([H
Bz ERERBLRRLERAR ([BILE
BT 2EE ZMBEARHEARARZHBE
REl REEEEERBERE QL2 L2
B AR ARBEESR 7 THERERELT
B -ZEXARIARAZEREIERARAE
KERMDBEBR AR ([T'Cement] ) EERFLE
KB -ZHEERTPEHEKEBRNOERAAE
ER FELEEIXERMHBERAAEZESRRK  Fill
MECEROHERABAEST FRIERNE
R A RE =%« ZFESynpac (N.C.) Limited= /& &
F B AR ER DB R A B ERE - T'Cement »
HFEEKXEBROBERAF FEILEBITER
MBERDA PR ITERMDERD AR #H 5%
ZEEBRNBERARERAEZSFRFIAZE

WA

REFEUTCE

RELBR TR RA R R EFREIERNT
EF ANERIAEFTAEEREHAERT
ERAREF -REER-NA=F+—AM
ALEE AEAREZERBEER KRR N
EBER - BARAEBRYBAABRZEEE
BELBNEXFABE AT ARERER Y
CREBBLEM -REESENEHBESE
BR=TFR&%-



Annual Report 2008 F 2§

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEQE

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Shan Weijian

Dr. Shan, aged 55, is currently a Partner of TPG Capital Limited.
Dr. Shan serves on the Boards of T'Cement, BOC Hong Kong
(Holdings) Limited, Shenzhen Development Bank Co., Ltd, Taishin
Financial Holdings Co., Ltd. and Chang Hwa Bank. He has been
an independent non-executive Director of the Company since
August 1997. Prior to 1993, Dr. Shan was a professor at the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, the USA. He
received his Ph.D. from UC Berkeley.

Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson

Mr. Chang, aged 56, is the brother-in-law of Mr. Koo, Cheng-
Yun, Leslie who is the Chairman and an executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Nelson Chang is also the uncle of two non-
executive Directors of the Company, Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung,
Jason and Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth. Mr. Nelson Chang
graduated from New York University with a master degree
in business administration. Mr. Nelson Chang is Directors of
T’'Cement, the ultimate holding company of the Company, and
Chia Hsin Cement Corporation (“Chia Hsin Cement”), the parent
company of a substantial shareholder of the Company named
Chia Hsin Pacific Limited (“CHPL”). Mr. Nelson Chang is also
a Director of CHPL. In addition, Mr. Nelson Chang is Directors
of China Synthetic Rubber Corporation and Taiwan Prosperity
Chemical Corporation. T’'Cement, Chia Hsin Cement, China
Synthetic Rubber Corporation and Taiwan Prosperity Chemical
Corporation are companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange

Corporation.
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Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason

Mr. Chang, aged 37, is the nephew of Mr. Chang, An-Ping,
Nelson, a non-executive Director of the Company and the
cousin of Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth, also a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Jason Chang graduated from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Boston, U.S.A. with a
master degree in management of technology. He also has a
bachelor degree of arts from Carroll College, Helena, U.S.A. Mr.
Jason Chang is a Director of Chia Hsin Cement, a company listed

on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation.

Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth

Ms. Wang, aged 35, is the niece of Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson,
a non-executive Director of the Company and the cousin of Mr.
Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason, also a non-executive Director of the
Company. Ms. Wang graduated from the Waseda University,
Tokyo, Japan with a MBA in organization restructuring. She also
has a bachelor degree of science in finance from Boston College,
Boston, U.S.A. Ms. Wang is a Director of Chia Hsin Cement, a

company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald C.B.E., J.P.

Mr. Liao, aged 79, has been an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since August 1997. He was educated
at the University of Hong Kong and the University of Durham,
the United Kingdom. He is a senior advisor to Mitsui & Co (HK)
Limited. He retired from the Hong Kong civil service in 1989
and was the former Secretary for District Administration and
the Secretary for Home Affairs. He served as non-executive
Directors of the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited and The HSBC China Fund Limited. He also served on
the Council of the Stock Exchange between 1991 and 1995. Mr.
Liao was also appointed as an Official Member of the Hong Kong
Legislative Council in 1980 and of the Hong Kong Executive
Council in 1985.
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Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth

Dr. Chih, aged 54, is currently Director and Chief Architect
Global Purchasing and Supply Chain of General Motors
Corporation (“GM”) in Detroit US. Before joining GM in 2007,
Dr. Chih was the Director and Chief Information Officer of Orient
Overseas Container Line Ltd., a subsidiary of Orient Overseas
(International) Limited (“OOCL") which is a company listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He also served as executive committee member of the Board of
OOCL and was globally responsible for IT strategy, information
systems development, information technology infrastructure,
business process and ISO9000 facilitation. Dr. Chih also served
as Directors of several OOCL subsidiary companies such as
Cargo Smart Limited and IRIS Systems Limited. Before joining
OOCL in 1993, Dr. Chih was the Senior Principal at American
Airlines Decision Technologies. Dr. Chih also had extensive
consulting experience in the US railroad transportation industry.
Dr. Chih received an M.A. and a Ph.D. from Princeton University,
an M.S. from the University of Texas at Austin and a B.S. from

National Taiwan University.

Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

Mr. Shieh, aged 51, started his career with Ogilvy & Mather
Advertising Taiwan since 1982. In 1999, he became managing
Director of Enterprise 1G, a consultancy company and a
subsidiary of one of the world’s largest communications groups,
WPP Group plc. In 2001, Mr. Shieh was relocated to Shanghai
to set up Enterprise |G China and further develop its business
and operations in the Greater China Region. He retired from WPP
Group plc in 2005. Mr. Shieh has over 20 years of experience
in advertising, public relations, corporate image and identity

management.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu, Shuang-Fu

President of TCC Fuzhou Cement Company Limited

Mr. Yu, aged 51, holds a bachelor’s degree in the Department
of Business from National Open University in Taiwan, and joined
T’Cement in 1979. He has more than 30 years of experience
in cement-related businesses. He joined the Group in October
2005.

Mr. Lu, Ker-Fu

President of TCC Yingde Cement Company Limited

Mr. Lu, aged 55, holds a bachelor's degree in Mechanical
Engineering from Tamkang University, Taiwan and joined
T'Cement in 1977. He has more than 30 years of experience in
cement and engineering businesses, and had worked in head
office and cement plants of T'Cement before joining the Group in
April 2007.

Mr. Huang, Yeou-Jinn

President of Jurong TCC Cement Company Limited

Mr. Huang, aged 60, graduated in chemical engineering from
National Taipei University of Technology. He joined T'Cement in
1974 and has more than 30 years of experience in cement and

engineering businesses. He joined the Group in January 2008.

Mr. Liu, Chung-Jung

President of Anhui King Bridge Cement Company Limited

Mr. Liu, aged 44, holds a bachelor’s degree in industrial
engineering from the Taiwan Technical University, and join
T'Cement in 1991. He had worked in T'Cement’s and was
responsible for sales, materials and factory management. He

joined the Group in March 2007.
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Mr. Chou, Li

President of TCC Liuzhou Construction Materials Company
Limited

Mr. Chou, aged 59, graduated in mechanical engineering from
Provincial Kaohsiung Institute of Technology. Mr. Chou has joined
T'Cement since 1973. He has acquired practical experience
through holding various posts responsible for mechanical repair
and maintenance, plant construction planning, standardized plant
operation and advanced plant management. He joined the Group
in April 2007.

Ms. Kwok Pui Ha

Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the Group
Ms. Kwok, aged 39, joined the Group as the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary in October 2005 and is responsible
for the financial control over the Group. She holds a bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong.
She is fellow members of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an Associate Chartered Accountant of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and ordinary
member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Prior to joining the
Group, she had served senior management position and financial
controller position in several listed companies and had 7 years’

auditing experiences in an international accounting firm.

Mr. Chi, Jung-Kun

Business Development Manager of the Group

Mr. Chi, aged 49, has also been the financial controller of Quon
Hing since June 1995. He holds a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from National Chung Hsin University, Taiwan, and a
master’s degree in business management from the Asian Institute
of Management, the Philippines. He has more than 25 years of

working experience in cement-related businesses.
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Corporate Governance Report
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the provisions of the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the accounting
year ended 31 December 2008, save for the exceptions that the
Company has not fixed the terms of appointment for the non-
executive Directors which deviates from the provision of A.4.1
of the CG Code. However, they are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the provision to the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”), and their appointment will
be reviewed when they are due for re-election. As such, in the
opinion of the Directors, the principle of CG Code A.4 that all
directors should be subject to re-election at regular intervals has

been up held.

CODES OF CONDUCT ON DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions and dealings (the “Code of Conduct”) based on the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules. The terms of the Code of Conduct are no less exacting
than the standards in the Model Code, and the Code of Conduct
applies to all the relevant persons as defined in the Model Code,
including the Directors of the Company, any employee of the
Company, or a Director or employee of a subsidiary or holding
company of the Company who, because of such office or
employment, are likely to be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information in relation to the Company or its securities.
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have fully complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the year of 2008.

EXRERER

RBE-2TN\F+-A=+ALEHFE
BESMRA - AR —ERT R4
Fidlz ¥ ERRRTA ([REEATAL W
XA ATLEAFNTEFITLEATE
FE4F 5 (UL BB R EDATAIBKFEALT1E)

ZBIIMERRIBRON « R - ZFIFMITEEAR
BAREZABEREAA (THA8]) 1\$Kﬁ’<\$z\
AZBERBEFAS L HESERBREE M
ARARERZEFATESINBEEEERE
BERE - EFRR ARG B/
ERATRAEAMEIRE A ESATHBE RS
EZRA-

EEETRFERZIZEBESTTA
A DA EAR R £ 48 BB £ 1057 82 £ B
TAEERTEERS 2 @ETA| ([BEF
Al RAESXHREBERTTH ([BF
SR BT TR Z ERTBRIEETR 2 2
% - RSP B AR SR RI AT T 2 FT A 4R
BEARRESE AARMEMES %
WEARSERAR 2 EENES
SES T S R CE o] PN
AHRRE S ER  EEH ST
BEEN _ZTT)N\E2EE2HE
J%ﬁZﬁmﬁﬁ°

| A
o>

= B
S
Y oo H

W

koj
N-N

=5
&
=

e
= =
>3ftl‘

STE]
Jnm



Annual Report 2008 F 2§

Corporate Governance Report
TERERBH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year, the Board comprised two executive and seven
non-executive Directors of whom three are independent as
defined by the Stock Exchange. The number of independent
non-executive Directors and the non-executive Directors
represents 33% and 44% of the Board respectively. With effect
from 1 January 2008, one of the non-executive Director was
redesignated as executive Director and then resigned on 25 July
2008, three new Directors were appointed as non-executive
Directors. To enhance independence and accountability, the role
and responsibility of the Group Chairman, Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun,
Leslie and the Group Managing Director, Mr. Wu Yih Chin, is
separated (the biographical details of the Directors are set out on
pages 32 to 37).

In accordance with the Articles, all Directors appointed to fill a
causal vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment. At every annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by

rotation.

The Board meets in person or through other electronic means
of communication at least four times every year. The Board
is responsible for overseeing the Group’s businesses and
development, formulating long term strategies and policies.
The Board also monitors and controls operating and financial
performance in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. All
Directors and Board committees have recourse to external legal
counsel and other professionals for independent advice at the
Group’s expense if they require it. The Board has delegated
the day-to-day management and operation of the Group’s

businesses to management.

Pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code, two Board
committees, namely, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee were established to oversee particular aspects of the

Group’s affairs.
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Details of the attendance of individual Directors at the Board ZEESEFARESTZERAMBEZEEERL
meetings and the two Committees meetings during the year are ERERFBHNRTE:
set out in the table below:

Meetings Attended/Held
HEBTEER
Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee

B EREES yFMzES
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie (Note 1) B EE (M) 4/4 N/AT i@ 1/1
Mr. Wu Yih Chin REREE 4/4 3/3* 11
Mr. Kao Teh-Jung (Note 2) SEEEAE (fE2) 2/4 N/AZR i@ F N/AZ & A
Non-executive Directors FBTES
Dr. Shan Weijian BEREEEL 2/4 N/AT 38 N/AT i B
Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson (Note 3) k& L& (HaE3) 3/4 N/AT 3 A N/AT 3
Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason (Note 3)  iRRl#% %54 (#1:2#3) 4/4 N/A i B N/AT &
Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth (Note 3) Tyt (#iE3) 4/4 3/3 N/AT 3
Independent Non-executive Directors B EHITES
Mr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald BARELE 4/4 3/3 1/1
Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth AR R 4/4 3/3 1/1
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger AR AE 4/4 3/3 1/1

Notes: it -

1. Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie was appointed as member of the 1. ENALERZEAFHEZESENE BT
Remuneration Committee with effect from 11 January 2008. ENF—A+—BEBER-

2. Mr. Kao, Teh-Jung was redesignated as executive Director with 2. RERALEDEATEAWNTES BH_TT/N\F
effect from 1 January 2008 and then resigned on 25 July 2008. —A—BRAEBMEERR-_ZEN\FLA-1+H
HEHE -

3.  Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson, Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason and Ms. 3. RETHEAE RAGEEREILLZLIHESZ

Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth were appointed as non-executive Directors RAARINTESES BT N\F-—A—HEAE
with effect from 1 January 2008. Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth was R EUDLDLTEZXEABEZZECKE B
appointed as member of the Audit Committee with effect from 1 ZENF-A—BEEK-

January 2008.

The Director is not a member of the committee at the relevant time : ZEERNEBANMIEZEENEEERLER

but attended the meetings by invitation. =
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

According to the Articles of the Company, the Board has the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the
Board. The nomination should be taken into consideration of the
nominee’s qualification, ability and potential contributions to the

Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee was established in 1999 and its members
comprise three independent non-executive Directors and an non-

executive Director:

Mr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald
Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger
Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth

(Chairman of the Committee)

(appointed on 1 January 2008)

All members possess diversified industry experiences and
appropriate professional qualifications as required under the

Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year.
Their major duties and responsibilities are set out in the terms
of reference and the work conducted by the Audit Committee

included the following matters:

1. Reviewed the Group’s 2007 annual and 2008 interim
reports, internal controls and corporate governance issues,
financial and accounting policies and practices and made

recommendations to the Board;

2. Recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and to develop policy
on the engagement of an external auditor to supply non-

audit services;
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3. Discussed with the external auditors their independence and

the nature and scope of the audit; and

4. Discussed with the external auditors any material queries
raised by the auditors to management in respect of the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control

and management’s response.

The Committee reviewed the Company’s internal control based
on the information obtained from the external auditors and
Company’s management and was of the opinion that there are

adequate internal controls in place.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors and two executive Directors:

Mr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald (Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie
Mr. Wu Yih Chin

Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

(appointed on 11 January 2008)

Its major terms of reference are summarized as follows:

1.  To formulate and recommend to the Board the policy for
the remuneration of the executive Directors and other senior

executives as designated by the Board;

2. To determine the individual remuneration package of each
executive Director including base salary, annual bonus plans

and allocation of share options;
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3. To consider and recommend to the Board any payment
or compensation commitment to be made to an executive

Director on termination of his contract;

4. In formulating its policy, the Committee shall give due regard
to the contents of the Listing Rules and shall also consider
market forces and compare between different remuneration
packages paid to directors of other companies of a similar
size in comparable industries. The executive Directors may
attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee when
invited to do so, but not when their own remuneration is

being discussed; and

5. To determine any performance related remuneration

schemes and executive share option schemes.

The Remuneration Committee is authorized by the Board to seek
any information it requires from any employee of the Company in

order to perform its duties.

In connection with its duties, the Remuneration Committee is
required by the Board to select, set terms of reference for and
appoint remuneration consultants, at the Company’s expense
as the Remuneration Committee deems necessary in order to

perform its duties.

The Remuneration Committee sets the remuneration policy for
the executive Directors and senior management. Specifically,
the Remuneration Committee agrees their service contracts,
salaries, other benefits, including bonuses and other terms and
conditions of employment. It also agrees terms for their cessation

of employment.

One meeting was held in 2008 with the attendance rate of 100%.
No executive Director takes part in any discussion about his own

remuneration.

3. ERLAEFERZMATESIURLS
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the fees charged to the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the non-statutory audit services
amounted to HK$467,000. The non-statutory audit services
consist of financial due diligence, tax compliance and the interim
review. The cost of statutory audit services provided by external
auditors was HK$3,071,000. The responsibilities of the external
auditors with respect to financial reporting are set out in the

section of “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 61 to 63.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had issued announcement in respect
of a number of ‘connected transactions’, details of which have
been included in the Report of the Directors on pages 45 to 60
and the related announcements.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board recognizes its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
accounts which give a true and fair view and are in accordance
with generally accepted accounting standards published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for
maintaining an adequate internal control system and reviewing
its effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The Company
management maintains and monitors the systems of controls on
an ongoing basis.

Based on the assessment made by the Company’s management
and external auditors during its statutory audit, the Audit
Committee satisfied that the internal control system is sufficient
to provide reasonable assurances that the Group’s assets are
safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition,
transactions are properly authorized and proper accounting
records are maintained. In addition, the Board considered
that the resources, qualifications and experience of the staff
responsible for the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, their training and budget are adequate. The system
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s operational system.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group consist of the import and
distribution of cement in Hong Kong, the manufacture and
distribution of cement, clinker and slag powder in other areas
of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the export
of cement to Europe and Middle East. Through its associates,
the Group is also engaged in the production and distribution of
ready-mixed concrete in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Brunei.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s

principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 64.
The board of Directors does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to existing shareholders.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 67 and 68.

At 31 December 2008, the Company’s reserve, including the
share premium and contributed surplus accounts, available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed
in accordance with the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$2,805,137,000. Under the
laws of the Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions
to its members of the share premium and contributed surplus

accounts under certain circumstances.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date

of this report are:

Executive Directors:

KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie (Chairman)

WU Yih Chin (Managing Director)

KAO, Teh-Jung (redesignated as an executive
Director on 1 January 2008 and

then resigned on 25 July 2008)

Non-executive Directors:
SHAN Weijian

CHANG, An-Ping, Nelson
CHANG, Kang-Lung, Jason
WANG, Lishin, Elizabeth

(appointed on 1 January 2008)
(appointed on 1 January 2008)
(appointed on 1 January 2008)

Independent non-executive Directors:
LIAO Poon Huai, Donald

CHIH Ching Kang, Kenneth

SHIEH, Jen-Chung, Roger
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The Company has received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors as regards their
independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Company considers that each of the independent non-

executive Directors is independent to the Company.

In accordance with Article 116 of the Articles of Association, Dr.
Shan Weijian, Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth and Mr. Shieh, Jen-
Chung, Roger shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the

senior management of the Group are set out on pages 32 to 37.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company,
its holding companies, any of its fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted by the Company on
5 October 1997 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”), the Company
had on 31 March 2006 granted to certain Directors the rights to
subscribe for shares at an exercise price of HK$1.266 per share
exercisable during the period from 1 October 2006 to 30 March
2011 (both days inclusive).
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A summary of movement of the share options granted to

Directors during the year is as follows:

EXERBERERNFAZESHMENT

Number of share options

EREHA
Balance Exercised Balance
Date of Exercise at during at
Name of Directors grant price Exercise period 1.1.2008 the year 31.12.2008
R-ZZENF R=ZZENF
-A-H +=A=+-H
Exns R A8 THEE TEE 2 FRETE i
HK$ (Note)
BT (Hizt)
Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie 31 March 2006 1.266 1 October 2006 to 4,400,000 (360,000 4,040,000
ESo ZETRE 30 March 2011
=A=+-H “ETNETA-H
F_E——F
=ZR=+H
Wu Yih Chin 31 March 2006 1.266 1 October 2006 to 900,000 (450,000) 450,000
REN “EBERF 30 March 2011
=A=+-H “ETRETA-H
F_E——F
ZR=+H
5,300,000 (810,000 4,490,000

Note: The exercisable period of an option granted under the Old
Share Option Scheme commences on the date falling six
months after the date of grant of an option and expiring at the
close of business on the day falling immediately prior to the
fifth anniversary of the date of grant in respect of such option.
As both of the Directors who hold the options set out above
were originally seconded from Taiwan Cement Corporation
(“T’Cement”), special restriction apply to the exercise period
of these options: up to 40% of the share option held by each
Director/employee may be exercised in 2007, a further 30%
in 2008 and the entire balance from 2009 onwards. These
share options will not lapse when the Director leaves the Group
and returns to his original employment with T'Cement; their
termination is determined by reference to the date when the

Director subsequently ceases to be employed by T'Cement.
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The market prices of the shares on the dates of which options
were exercised during the year were ranged from HK$1.70 to
HK$6.10 per share.

On 23 May 2006, the Old Share Option Scheme was cancelled
and a new share option scheme was adopted by the Company.
No option under this new scheme has been granted from its first
adoption to 31 December 2008.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2008, the Directors, Chief Executive or their
associates had interests in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”) as follows:

RAFEEEREETFEERH 2RO TENT=
[%1.70% T £6.10/8 7T ©

EBEREFAER _ZTREFAA_T=HEE
BUH - MARR RN — BB E8- B H
BERRMzBABERE-_TENF+_A=+—H
B AR EMERBEZ AR L EAE
P HE

EERTHARNES &R

RZZEZNF+_A=+—H REARAR
EBHMHAEGRD ([EH BB GI]) H3521%
BEFZELMAT ARBZEE THAEK
HE B A LR ARE REREEE 2 iy M8
RARK D < s 8k HI a0 T -

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company RAEQAREZBERZER

Percentage of

the Company’s

Capacity and Number of issued

Name of Directors nature of interest shares held share capital

HARDEE BT

ESpE BEREszHOREE FERGOEE RAZEDE

Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie Directly beneficially owned 7,880,000 0.61%
2K BERE=HESR

Wu Yih Chin Directly beneficially owned 3,550,000 0.28%
RER BEREE=HESR

Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason Directly beneficially owned 2,000,000 0.16%
o= Ml 4 BERE=HEA

18,430,000 1.05%

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, the
Company has not been notified of any interests or short positions
were held or deemed to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any
Director or Chief Executive of the Company or their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
Code or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be recorded in the register referred to therein. Nor any
of the Directors and the Chief Executive (including their spouses
and children under the age of 18) had, as at 31 December 2008,
any interest in, or had been granted any right to subscribe for
the securities and options of the Company and its associated
corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any

such rights.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the details disclosed under the share option scheme
disclosures in note 32 to the consolidated financial statement,
at no time during the year, there were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by the
Directors; or was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.

BREXHBEEEIN RZZEZENFT_A=+—
BARBY RABEMNARRZES 1THAE
BRAEZBZBEALTHEN AR B SE AR
B (ERRBHRABIRGIEXVER) 2 Betn
MR D MMEFFAIRERZ MBE RS
XVER AR B Fr B EAI S FOR R - M ARERE
7 M B RDIEXVERET7 K80 Bk RIBF T
AMERAR LB HARBESFRHPE
B 5 362 {5 M 5C A 7% 5 P 1 o 2 B RE i A - 10
—EENF+_A=t—H EFERTRER
(BEAERBRAMI8EL TX)MERTEE
REMARBARR REBABER (E&RE
R ERD) 2 7855 N IRk 2 R SR -
TMERTTRRAER B RERER -
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2008, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that the following shareholders had notified the Company

of the relevant interests in the issued share capital of the

BREARREZ ZRR

RZZEZENF+ZA=+—B REBEAXAQFIE
B RARGOIFEIBHREF . ETERRERT
fER - TOBRREMEA AR REFFAR
AR BITRA RS-

Company.
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Capacity and ordinary issued
Name nature of interest shares held share capital
R NN
EBRITRAZ
=x FARBRZBNRME g BEREE Aok
TCC International Limited Directly beneficially owned 567,518,000 44.25%
BEEERER
T’'Cement (Note 1) Through a controlled corporation 567,518,000 44.25%
(HsE1) FHREEHEE
Chia Hsin Pacific Limited (“CHPL")  Directly beneficially owned 369,963,000 28.85%
BEEERER
Chia Hsin Cement Corporation Through a controlled corporation 369,963,000 28.85%

(“Chia Hsin Cement”) (Note 2) FBBRZEREE
EHAKRKRG AR A A

(IE#AKRE])

(Kiat2)

Notes:
(1) T’'Cement is interested in the shares of the Company by virtue of
its beneficial ownership of the entire issued share capital of TCC

International Limited.

(2) Chia Hsin Cement is interested in the shares of the Company held

by its wholly owned subsidiary, CHPL.

Wit

(1) T'CementA & z5# A TCC International Limited
EHEETRAMEE AR ARG 2o

(2 BEHKEREZEWBARCHPLIFE ZARA

B in R A HE af o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, no other
person had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s largest customer
and its five largest customers accounted for approximately 4.8%
and 14.8% of the Group’s total sales revenue, respectively.
Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier and its five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 10.2% and 30.5% of the

Group’s total purchases, respectively.

Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie, the Chairman and Director of the
Company, had an approximately 8.9% direct or indirect interest
in T'"Cement, and each of Messrs. Wu Yih Chin, Chang, An-Ping,
Nelson and Liao Poon Huai, Donald, Directors of the Company,
had less than 5% direct or indirect interest in T'Cement, one of
the Group’s five largest suppliers and the Company’s ultimate

holding company.

Apart from the above, none of the Directors of the Company or
any of their associates or any shareholders which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital, had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest

customers and suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The following Directors are considered to have interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as defined in the

Listing Rules.

BRERBREEIN R_TENFT _A=+—
B SEE A A TR R Z D MR D
BHEDIORR  MAREREZ PR EAFEXV
BB 2R3 BB 2 R A8 AN A R) R B PR
FALHENARBREZ 5 LB %P 5336
FFEzELMA-

TEEFRHEER

REBFERN AFAEERAESRAAAE
PR Z & BB R S B E s g
4.8% 5 14.8% ° (A7 % B oA B A R HL B K
HEEIEH 2 REES B AR EARBEY
10.2%230.5% °

AAFEERESTERATERRTEBRAMH
JER 2 — RANRA R &R AIEAR A & T'Cement 1 #E
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ZEEERERBEENSEHEBIATERE
o I BE A 2 o
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Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie, the Chairman and Director of the
Company, had as at 31 December 2008, an approximately 8.9%,
and each of Mr. Wu Yih Chin, Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson and
Mr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald who are Directors of the Company
had as at 31 December 2008, less than 5%, direct or indirect
interest in T'Cement, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
the shares of which are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange. Mr.
Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie and Dr. Shan Weijian and Mr. Chang, An-
Ping, Nelson who also are Directors of the Company, also serve

on the board of T'Cement.

T'Cement indirectly owns the entire shareholding interest in TCC
(Gui Gang) Cement Limited (“TCC Gui Gang”). Mr. Wu Yih Chin is

Director of the Company and also a director of TCC Gui Gang.

TCC Gui Gang currently operates 4 clinker and cement
production lines in the Guangxi province of the PRC, 2
production lines commenced commercial run in December 2008
and the remaining 2 production lines commenced trial run in
the first quarter in 2009. TCC Gui Gang produces and sells two
products, namely bagged cement and bulk cement, which may

compete with the products of the Company.

RELATED PARTY AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions, which fall within the definition
stipulated in the Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24 “Related
Party Disclosures”, undertaken by the Group during the year
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
The transactions included in note 40 items (i) to (ix) to the
consolidated financial statements also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

ERALE (ARFIZEEREREZ)N_FF
NE+-ZA=+—8 AT CementH sk M#
BEEXBINE R MARAIEERENR KL
TREAER_ZZENF+_A=+—H5 5
RT' CementBE sk M H 75’\5%2% i
T'CementBARR ZIERKRE  HRHNEE
BHERG LT -ZEXAKE BEREBLRE
TV REABRRFBESR NMAT CementE =€

T'CementfE XA 8k (E8)KEBRAA
(TBREAE]) 22 MIEBES RERKTLER
ARBZEE NTRAREEZES-

BRES B AT R B E A A % IO RAVE K
TEEG EPREEESR_ZZENF+=
RARBEFELE " 739|\“1 EEZNR_ZZEN
FEEFTERBHEE- AREBEEREE
MR E m - 9 Al RRENKE REE KR - BH ]
BEEARRNA ZEmBKESE -

FAEATRFERERS

AEBRAFERRBB G EANF24HER
[BEALTHRE|FIRACERETIAEALR
SE N A M HRRM 40 - &R E M B HR
B FE40% (I) 2 (ix) T8 P 8 2 32 5 75 [F) B 48 A Bt <2
rEMBRAEAAEAELLRBRERS -
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The Directors have reviewed the following continuing

connected transactions under which a conditional waiver from

strict compliance with the continuing connected transaction

requirements as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules has

been obtained:

(ii

(i)

(vi)

(vil)

(vili)

(ix)

supply of cement by the Company’s ultimate holding
company in the ordinary and usual course of business in

Hong Kong;

supply of cement and/or clinker by the Company’s ultimate
holding company and its subsidiaries in the ordinary and

usual course of business in the PRC;

leasing of a site on Tsing Yi Island, Hong Kong, from a fellow

subsidiary of the Company;

leasing of a site in Tondo, Manila, the Philippines, from an

associate of the Company’s ultimate holding company;

receive of logistic and unloading services from a fellow

subsidiary of the Company;

receive of maintenance service of a computer software

system from fellow subsidiaries of the Company;

sales of certain cement products to a subsidiary of a

substantial shareholder;

purchase of clinker from a subsidiary of a substantial

shareholder;

sales of limestones to a subsidiary of a substantial

shareholder;

E=CHTIRERERE
ERERE

RXPELER
RHEERGREREBREET LT

;&):

RABAAEFMEBBRBERER S ZHRE

(i

(i)

(vi)

(vil)
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(x) use of jetting service by a subsidiary of a substantial

shareholder;

(xi) sales of slag powder to a minority shareholder of a

subsidiary;

(xii) purchase of clinker from a minority shareholder of a

subsidiary; and

(xiii) purchase of slag from a subsidiary of a minority shareholder

of a subsidiary.

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have
been approved by the board of Directors and, in their opinion,

were:

(@) conducted on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary

and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) fair and reasonable so far as the shareholders of the

Company are concerned;

(c) entered into either in accordance with the terms of the
agreements governing such transactions or, where there are
no such agreements, on terms that are no less favourable

than those available to or from independent third parties;

(d) within an annual limit of HK$130 million for the year in

respect of the transaction stated in (i) above;

(e) within an annual limit of HK$280 million for the year in

respect of the transaction stated in (i) above;

()  within an annual limit of HK$10 million and HK$10 million for

the year in respect of the transaction stated in (v) above;

x) TERRZMBAREMAERAREESR
AR 75

() MMBAR D BRREERSEN

(i) MHEARZ PEBRERBARE: &

(xiii) MEIF B A )z D BARR 2 MY B A R AUK

B o

EX (BREUFNTES) BARSHERE
ROGBROREZSHE URR:

(@) EAKEAER -REXEETELIRH

EIRRETAL:

b) BEARFAKRMEBATAE:

© WREREZFRHME 2R (fHE
EHZEFHRZ) RETBRIEEHR T A

B R =TGR L

(d) BEXWEEZZBME  SFEFRIHK
#H’4130,000,0007# 7T A R

@ BMEXMEMEAZXZMNE B8FFhz
X 58 LA280,000,0007% 7T A BR

M BMEXVERLZZZME 8FFhz
X %8 LA10,000,0007% 7T £ 10,000,000/% T
RR
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(9) within an annual limit of HK$97 million for the year in respect (9)

of the transaction stated in (vii) above;

(h) within an annual limit of HK$330 million for the year in (h)

respect of the transaction stated in (viii) above;

(i)  within an annual limit of HK$8.1 million for the year in (i)

respect of the transaction stated in (ix) above;

() within an annual limit of HK$4.1 million for the year in ()

respect of the transaction stated in (x) above;

(k) within an annual limit of HK$31 million for the year in respect (k)

of the transaction stated in (xi) above;

() within an annual limit of HK$330 million for the year in ()

respect of the transaction stated in (xii) above; and

(m) within an annual limit of HK$58 million for the year in respect (m)

of the transaction stated in (xiii) above.

Details of the continuing connected transactions set out in (xi) to

MEXVIVERItZ XS ME  BESRZ
FEA LA97,000,0005% 7T AR
MEXWVIEFRLz XS ME  §FEF M
XA LA330,000,000% 7T AR
MEX(NEBERtzZZMEs §FFHE/Z
FEELAS, 100,000 7T AR
MENXNEFRRZZZME BEHRLZ
FEELA4,100,0005 7T AR

MEXXK)V BRIz ZMEs BFFHE/Z
X EA LA31,000,000/% 7T AR
MEXXNVEML 2 RS ME  BESRLZ

7K LA330,000,0005 T AR K&

b EX (i) BT RS ME -
X EE LA58,000,0005% 7T AR ©

BEERZ

B EXX)EXIVEMAZIHEBER S 2 FH1B

(xiii) above are summarised below: BEat R T
2008 2007
—EENF —EETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Sales of slag powder to a minority M) S (xi) B AT 2 [/ —
shareholder of the same subsidiary WEBARZLERREE
referred to in (xi) above (note 1) BaED (M) - =
Purchase of clinker from a minority M) S (xi) B ATl 2 [B —
shareholder of the same subsidiary WEBARZ LEKREEA
referred to in (xii) above (note 2) 2 (B at2) 58,340 144,422
Purchase of slag from a subsidiary of A k= 32 (xiii) T8 P it 2 [&] —
a minority shareholder of the same MEAR 2 LHBRE 2
subsidiary referred to in (xiii) above BB A R ANKE (M E2)
(note 2) 45,750 17,179




Annual Report 2008 F 2§

Report of the Directors
EEEREE

Notes:

The above continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
December 2008 did not exceed the annual limits as set out in (k) to (m)
above. The transactions were entered into on terms no less favourable

than those available from third parties.

(1)  The basis of the pricing policies for the above continuing transaction
is set out in greater details in circular to the shareholders of the

Company dated 15 December 2006.

(2) The basis of the price determination for the above continuing
transactions is set out in greater details in circular to the

shareholders of the Company dated 11 January 2008.

The board of Directors engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the above
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The auditor has
reported their factual findings on these procedures to the board
of Directors. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions and the report
of the auditor and have confirmed that the transactions have
been entered into by the Company in the ordinary course of its
business, on normal commercial terms, and in accordance with
the terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities during the year.

Hiat

FBE—EENFT A=+ —BIEFEZFHE
MER S WEBBR EX(KEMmBRMAILZFEL
BRI B RS 2 R TBENE =5 riEft 2 &

() EXZHERERXZZEEBERRELEDHIIRN
TEERFT_ATHBARRABRRZER
o

@ LEXZFHEMERZZEERREELEDHIIRN
“ERENF-A+—BARBBRRZBHA °

EXeCBAAL R LB E A A E 2
BREXZWTETAEREF REMERNES
CERNERTRSEFTHERAZCEELER -
BIYFNTESCENBERER S RIZHUED
FE UCHERRHTIAARREREXHB
RARET R RAXGIETL NAREZXE
RP2#EZ RFEBGEH  XFAEARAR
RZEBREME-

idid

t

BE LEIWAAQAF 2z L™
& 2
BERAMBRRIESIMREEI AAARK
EEMNBARBERFAEE HEXHED
ARFZAEM EHES

57



TCC International Holdings Limited & E Bl I &£ B & R 2 A

58

Report of the Directors
EEEREE

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21
of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in
respect of the Company’s loan agreements, which contain
covenants requiring performance obligations of the controlling

shareholder of the Company.

Pursuant to a loan agreement and amendment to loan agreement
dated 23 June 2005 and 6 September 2008 respectively
between the Company and certain banks relating to a five-year
term loan facility of HK$500,000,000, a loan agreement dated 23
October 2008 between the Company and certain banks relating
to three-year term loan facility of HK$500,000,000, a termination
event would arise if () T'Cement ceases to own legally and
beneficially, at least 30% of the shares in the Company’s capital
or (ii) the Group fails to meet the financial covenants stipulated in

the loan facility.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 16 May 2008 between
the Company and a bank relating to a two-year loan facility of
HK$150,000,000, a loan agreement dated 16 December 2008
between the Company and a bank relating to a two-year loan
facility of HK$50,000,000, a termination event would arise if (i)
T’Cement ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 30% of
the shares in the Company’s capital or (ii) the Group fails to meet

the financial covenants stipulated in the loan facility.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 19 March 2008 between
the Company and a bank relating to a two-year loan facility of
HK$50,000,000, a termination event would arise if T'Cement
ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 30% of the shares

in the Company’s capital.
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Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 24 April 2008 between
the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan facility of
HK$40,000,000, a loan agreement dated 21 November 2008
between the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan
facility of HK$40,000,000, a loan agreement dated 13 January
2009 between the Company and a bank relating to a one-year
loan facility of HK$20,000,000, a termination event would arise if
T'Cement, the Company’s ultimate holding company, ceases to
own beneficially, directly or indirectly, at least 30% of the shares

in the Company’s capital.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 16 December 2008 between
the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan facility of
US$10,000,000, a termination event would arise if (i) T'Cement
ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 30% of the shares
in the Company’s capital or (i) the Group fails to meet the

financial covenants stipulated in the loan facility.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 2 April 2008 between
the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan facility of
HK$50,000,000, a termination event would arise if (i) T'"Cement,
the Company’s ultimate holding company, ceases to own
beneficially, directly or indirectly, at least 31% of the shares in
the Company’s capital or (ii) the Group fails to meet the financial

covenants stipulated in the loan facility.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on

pages 38 to 44.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market

statistics.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

Details of the Company’s Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on

pages 38 to 44.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2008.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for

the past five years is set out on page 168.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as

auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
23 March 2009
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Deloitte.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TCC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
TCC International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 64 to 167 which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are

reasonable in the circumstances.

HEREBEEEERQIAERR
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HPREGARENEREFA T EZSHBERR
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EARAZESARBHESEHHAGRMZ
EAMBREEANREERAGH 2 RERE
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AEHBRETEEARRFRBERTER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A RS S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

BB 2 BT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZEAHRE S

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31
December 2008 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

mEWaE R

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

2008 2007
—EEN\HF —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B #t FHET FE T
Revenue Wz 6 2,822,827 1,829,168
Cost of sales 5 & AR (2,517,912) (1,491,744)
Gross profit E A 304,915 337,424
Investment income &AW A 7 30,743 29,403
Other income, gains and losses HagA -z &
E1a 8 28,817 93,255
Selling and distribution expenses  $5& K& 7§85 (181,341) (22,546)
General and administrative — M RITBR X
expenses (145,409) (91,569)
Impairment loss on intangible B EERERERE
assets (23,983) (8,722,639)
Impairment loss of property, plant ¥ % - &= &
and equipment HEREEE (4,584) -
Finance costs A& AR 9 (129,356) (101,921)
(120,198) (3,478,593)
Share of results of associates EIEHE RN 2 %8 30,140 7,915
Loss before tax BRELRTE R 10 (90,058) (3,470,678)
Income tax expense PRSBi X i 12 (12,367) (2,736)
Loss for the year REFEER (102,425) (3,473,414)
Attributable to: VAT BEAR
Shareholders of the Company ZIN/NETE ) (155,523) (3,506,645)
Minority interests D ER BR RE A 53,098 33,231
(102,425) (3,473,414)
Loss per share HFREE 14
— basic —EK HK(12.0) centsi&fll  HK(404.2) cents/ &1l
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
mEEEBERER

At 31 December 2008 WR-FEZENFE+-HA=+—H

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt THER FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB k& 16 5,053,368 3,873,850
Prepaid lease payments FENMEERKIE 16 702,429 714,897
Intangible assets BmEE 17 63,829 95,720
Interests in associates RN L 19 116,285 104,253
Loan to an associate R /NI = 19 16,800 25,946
Long term deposits KB 720 720
Deposit for the acquisition of KEWE BE M&E
property, plant and equipment ZE® 302,561 645,713
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE 20 58,713 71,564
Deferred tax asset EIEFIEE E 29 33 33
6,314,738 5,632,696
Current assets MBNEE
Inventories A 22 410,283 272,761
Prepaid lease payments SENNR = 16 20,019 20,137
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE EZE Rk
other receivables E W 5008 123,048 125,086
Loan receivables e & w\ 21 49,309 27,291
Trade receivables EWE S 23 210,435 320,223
Held-for-trading investments F T’E?&%Fﬁ BZRE 20 257,810 335,038
Pledged bank deposit BEEMIBITER 24 452 3,651
Time deposits EHFE 24 111,703 112,952
Cash and bank balances Be RIR1THE 24 921,882 725,937
2,104,941 1,943,076
Current liabilities mEBEE
Trade payables R E 5 R 25 311,572 130,211
Other payables and HEa sk
accrued liabilities [EEtafE 264,501 226,614
Tax payable FET A I8 4,756 11,424
Bank loans RITER 26 1,440,520 1,005,362
Amount due to minority shareholder FE A > B R FRIE 27 17,619 17,567
2,038,968 1,391,178
Net current assets MEEEFE 65,973 551,898
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBEE 6,380,711 6,084,594
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
mEEEERBR

At 31 December 2008 WR-FEZENEFE+-HA=+—H

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ok FH T FET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIBEE 29 143,748 147,885
Bank loans IRITER 26 2,109,999 2,017,728
Amount due to immediate holding FEREBER A RN
company 28 265,500 -
2,519,247 2,165,613
3,861,464 3,918,981
Capital and reserves AR A K 7% 1
Share capital fi% 7 31 128,245 128,159
Reserves & 33 3,562,096 3,629,569
Equity attributed to shareholders of RARREEIEER
the Company 3,690,341 3,757,728
Minority interests DHIERE S 171,123 161,253
3,861,464 3,918,981

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 167 were FEOAZIGTEZ M BHRERENRZZEZTNE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on “A-TT-HEEEgRBNEERER-
23 March 2009.

KOO, CHENG-YUN, LESLIE WU YIH CHIN
BRI RER
CHAIRMAN MANAGING DIRECTOR
FE EFBEE
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

REBHEIMNER

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
gz FHERT FiET
Cash flows from operating activities KEEBH2RERE
Loss before tax B T4 A1 BT 18 (90,058) (3,470,678)
Adjustments for: KT :
Depreciation of property, ME BE N
plant and equipment BB E 238,337 134,002
Interest expenses MEFRZ 129,356 101,921
Interest income FLEWA (14,081) (7,370)
Dividend income from & IR BEWA
investments (16,662) (22,033)
Amortisation of intangible assets | B B 10,085 3,485
Amortisation of prepaid lease TE 5 & SR8 5
payments 20,008 5,373
Impairment loss on intangible mEEERERSE
assets 23,983 3,722,639
Impairment loss of property, ME WE K
plant and equipment B R SR 4,584 =
Loss (gain) on disposal of HEE BER
property, plant and equipment Rz EE () 50 (534)
Gain on disposal of EEAHEHE
available-for-sale investments ®E 2 W (8,185) =
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—HBE AR 2
Wz - (5)
Share of results of associates EAEE & AR 2 EE (30,140) (7,915)
Exchange adjustments bE 38 & (31,420) (40,041)
Operating cash flows before EEESEH 2
movements in working capital KERESRE 235,857 418,844
Increase in inventories HFEEM (137,522) (26,854)
Decrease (increase) in prepayments, TENRIE e R
deposits and other receivables H b e W SR IER A (3E0) 2,038 (36,255)
Decrease in held-for-trading BIERXRHREZIRERD
investments 77,228 205,217
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables  fEURE 5 BR 50 4> (350) 109,788 (96,649)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables &I & S 8EFIE M G d) 181,361 (49,201)
Increase in other payables and H {th B FR0E K
accrued liabilities FEET & E1E 0 37,887 58,969
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRE 506,637 474,071
Income taxes paid EENETE (22,587) (4,360)
Net cash generated from KEFE 2R RAFRE
operating activities 484,050 469,711
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

:wT\ EE % JIL E %‘:Z

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &t FERT FiE T
Cash flows from investing activities WEFRERE
Interest received B U F B 14,081 7,370
Dividend received from investments Euﬂxéﬂi 2 16,662 22,033
Dividend received from associates SR EPNGI s 18,150 7,520
Repayment of advance to an —MBE A AGEER
associate 9,146 2,800
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BE KK
equipment (1,269,925) (248,962)
Purchase of mining rights B B PRiE R = (37,914)
Purchase of computer software BEEEEMG = (9,414)
Increase in prepaid lease payments TEAS T & IR 0 (53) (1,107)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BE &
plant and equipment LB SRR 1,132 1,087
Proceeds from disposal of an & —fH 55%’\ Az
associate Fr 1S 302 - 8
Proceeds from disposal of il —H,\ Hj BREZ
available-for-sale investments Pﬁ?%?ﬁi 22,484 =
Deposit for the acquisition of WY BRE &
property, plant and equipment LEzEe 343,152 (645,713)
Decrease in long term deposits EE@TMH’J\ = 1,036
Decrease (increase) in time TEHfF OB (3 n)
deposits 1,249 (22,663)
Repayment of advance to loan EERATRIER
receivables = 7,921
Advance to loan receivables B EBERK (22,018) (27,291)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B IR1TF FOR 3,199 23,872
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of g1y =pNE]
cash acquired HBRATEGSEHE S 30 = 307,194
Net cash used in investing activities KREESMAR € FE (862,741) (612,223)
Cash flows from financing activities BMEETHCHEERE
Interest paid AT E (164,906) (114,298)
New bank loans raised 3 fﬁﬁ%ﬁ b 2,197,546 2,397,145
Repayment of bank loans EBIRBITEK (1,678,883) (1,658,123)
Dividend paid to minority interest AT HR R R R (49,280) (16,109
Advance from immediate holding HEEZERARER
company 265,500 -
Advance from minority shareholders D BIR% R E K 52 -
Proceeds from exercise of share Tﬂ?‘ﬁ FE R HEFT 1S 3R
options 2,633 3,190
Expenses on issue of shares MR 21T (5) (12,615)
Repurchase of shares AN (21,321) -
Net cash generated from financing BB EE SR E
activities 551,336 599,190
Net increase in cash and cash FAReRRSFEFHE
equivalents for the year hn 172,645 456,678
Cash and cash equivalents at FYMzReRALEE
beginning of year 725,937 255,290
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEEXREBH) o8
changes 23,300 13,969
Cash and cash equivalents FRZE2 EREZE A
at end of year, represented by & MIR1T4H
Cash and bank balances 921,882 725,937
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company is a public listed company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Group consisted of the import
and distribution of cement in Hong Kong, the manufacture
and distribution of cement, clinker and slag powder in other
areas of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
exports cements to Europe and Middle East. Through its
associates, the Group is also engaged in the production and
distribution of ready-mixed concrete in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and Brunei. There were no significant changes in the

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate

Information” section to the Annual Report.

The parent company of the Company is TCC International
Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands). In the
opinion of the Directors, Taiwan Cement Corporation
(“T" Cement”), a company incorporated and whose shares
are listed in Taiwan, is the Company’s ultimate holding

company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”) whereas the functional currency of the

Company is Renminbi (“RMB”).

—REH

ARRAA—ARLTAR RESHSE
BRI EROREERARBHERD
= (83 )) £ e

AEBZEIEZXBERERTERLZKE
EORDHER EHEARLME (T4
B ] ) H 30 & 48 & KO ~ BV B B
ERDEER AR OB EUM &P
R-AKENEREBERRERSE TH
RERIRREEERSHBEHERERL -
AEBRAFE 2 T EEXB AL EEM

ARAZAMMPEREREZLEEMHER
RER[ARER] —HHE -

KNEB 2 & AFATCC International
Limited (R EBR X BFHSEMK L) -
EEZERR EETMARZIEERSD
ERE Mz e EKERMDAERRGR
([T'Cement]) AR A 2 HKER R
=

HREMBBERABITINE MARRZY
EEBESARE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

/2

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), (hereinafter collectively
referred to as “new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) which

are or have become effective.

2.

RAFMI LRI ERMBRE
ZR ([BRMBREER])

RAEE AEBERBEEESHAL
GRMGZ U T EESHRELAETRE
B (U TH [ HEBnsRsEn]) %
53 B B 4R 3 o

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of financial assets BERGFENEORE  ERBEEEFHE
(Amendments) BB BREEA
F75% (BETF)

HK(IFRIC)* — INT 11 HKFRS 2 Share-based payment: 55 (BRE KRS BEMEREEE2
Group and treasury share ZEZEE) AR AR
transactions —RBE1R X EBRERRR

25

HK(IFRIC) - INT 12 Service concession arrangements % (BRMBRE R L b

#ABZEg)
—2EBF12%

HK(FRIC) - INT 14 HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined % (BB BRE BRI RAE195% -
benefit asset, minimum funding ZELZEE) AERHNEERS:
requirements and their interaction —ZEE14R REESERRMAE

ZHEBE

The adoption of the above new HKFRSs has had no material
effect on how the results and financial position for the
current or prior accounting periods have been prepared and
presented. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been

made.

The Group has not early applied the following new or revised
Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are

not yet effective.

SR L3 B B B HR A R AR A [
B R 2 R R B 2 B
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

HE TN\ F+-A=+—HIFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27
(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 4

HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC) - INT 9

HK(IFRIC) - INT 13

HK(IFRIC) - INT 15

HK(IFRIC) - INT 16

HK(IFRIC) - INT 17

HK(IFRIC) - INT 18

Improvements to HKFRSs’

Presentation of financial statements?

Borrowing costs?

Consolidated and separate financial
statements?

Puttable financial instruments and
obligations arising on liquidation?

Eligible hedged items’

Cost of an investment in a subsidiary,
jointly controlled entity or
associate?

Vesting conditions and cancellations?

Business combinations?

Improving disclosures about financial
instruments?

Operating segments?

Reassessment of embedded
derivatives?

Customer loyalty programmes®

Agreements for the construction of

real estate’

Hedges of a net investment in a
foreign operation?

Distribution of non-cash assets to
owners?

Transfer of assets from customers”

2.

RRAME L RIEFT B RM B R
EEA([FEMBHREEL])
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BAYBRE LR
(BRTA)

BEGHEAF R
(3T

BA G AR 235
(5T

BAGERF27H
(& &3T)

BAGERF32% R
BAGENE IR
(BRTA)

BAE G ERF305%
CHES

BAMBREENFR

kERGHER
F275% (B3 K)

BARBREERE25H
CHEN

BAYBREERNFIR
(BEFT)

BAERBREERF45%

BB BRE R E8R
Bt (BRHBRE
REZE®)
—RRBEIR
Bt (BRHBRE
REBZEY)
—RBE137
Bt (BRHBRE
REZEE)
—RBE15%
Bt (BRTBRE
REZE9)

- RBE16%
Bt (BRHBRE
REBZEE)
—RBETH
Bt (BRHBRE
REZEE)
—RBE185

BAMBREEAZ
B

R EE

B A2

maRBIMBHRR

HESRIARFR
EEZEE

BERHER

REBAT - LR
BRABEAR
BB A

BB R

2546

BEEMMBTAL
R

LEH

B FERARNE

TR

RP B HEEP

BERMEZ h#

HNBEB 2 FREAHE

8

AEBADKIERE
BE

BRFPEBUAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009 except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual

periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
4 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009.
= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.

G Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008.
4 Effective for transfers of assets from customers received on or

after 1 July 2009.

* IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting

Interpretations Committee.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the Group’s
accounting for business combination for which the
acquisition date is on or after 1 January 2010. HKAS 27
(Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for changes in
the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary. The Directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of the other
new or revised standards, amendments or interpretations
will have no material impact on the results or financial

position of the Company.

2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHHE
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared DEREUBRERDIZBERAERE -
on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties HETMEREBRTENTXAEHETES
and financial instruments, which are measured at revalued STBURFTL IR B S EI A T ERE -

amounts or fair values, as explained in the principal

accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in REMBHRRDIZBRESSTMASRHMG
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards BBV BMEERRE - ILHN - 416 T
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial WMEREHABMIMES LMRAURBEER
statements include applicable disclosures required by The AIEBIIRTE 2 8 R 55 -

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation RERE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 4R B S =R %ﬁ?EZK"ﬁT&K AJZE 2
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled TR (EWEB )Zﬁﬂ%#ﬁzﬁ EARA]
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where BRERAE— flﬁﬁmz IR EBEHER 1K
the Company has the power to govern the financial and MmBEEEEEERRRIGZE R 2L
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from o

its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during RERERBERAFTFEMBANLE 2
the year are included in the consolidated income statement M AR ZHEE BARYER Rk
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective SAEARHERR (HER) -

date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial MESTE - WEARZHEHEREELE
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies BOYFESTBRREAEBREMEE R
into line with those used by other members of the Group. AR ETBER — e

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses FIEEBATRS &t WARASZER
are eliminated on consolidation. mAERRBE R

/5
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to

cover the losses.

Business combinations

The acquisition of business is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations are

recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost
of the business combination, the excess is recognised

immediately in consolidated income statement.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities

recognised.

3. FEESHE &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisitions on or after 1 January
2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business for which
the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005 represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the date
of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is presented separately in the consolidated balance sheet as

an intangible asset.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in

subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss

on disposal.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those

policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the
associates, less any identified impairment loss. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised

immediately in consolidated income statement.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the

Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of

business, net of discounts, returns and sales related taxes.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered

and risks and rewards of ownership have passed.

Service revenue is recognised in the period in which such

services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through

the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net

carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the

Group’s rights to receive payment have been established.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction

of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line

basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements, in
which case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be

made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for

as operating leases.

Prepaid lease payments

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building elements, in
which case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be

made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for

as operating leases.

The up-front payments to acquire leasehold interest in land

are accounted for as operating leases and are stated at cost

and released over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency, i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates,
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are included
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for
the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary
items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also

recognised directly in equity.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHHE (&)
(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued) Ik (L)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars using
exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuated
significantly during that year, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate
component of equity (exchange fluctuation reserve). Such
translation differences are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange

fluctuation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated

income statement in the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits scheme
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and the
employee’s pension schemes of the respective municipal
government in various places in the PRC where the Group
operates are charged as an expense when employees have

rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated income statement because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted
for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEESHE &)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) BiE (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the profit
or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt

with in equity.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the
periods necessary to match them with related cost. Grants
related to expense items are recognised in the same
period as those expenses are charged in the consolidated
income statement and are deducted in reporting the related

expense.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and office buildings held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes, are stated in
the consolidated balance sheet at their revalued amounts,
being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed
with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does

not differ materially from that would be determined using fair

values at the balance sheet date.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of land and
buildings is credited to the land and building revaluation
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously recognised as an
expense, in which case the increase is credited to the
consolidated income statement to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. A decrease in net carrying amount
arising on revaluation of such land and buildings is dealt with
as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if
any, held in the land and building revaluation reserve relating
to a previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus remaining in the land and building

revaluation reserve is transferred directly to accumulated

losses.

Property, plant and equipment (other than leasehold land
and office building and construction in progress) are stated

at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any

accumulated impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value
of items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual

value, using straight-line method.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets

are ready for their intended use.

An items of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item

is derecognised.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair
values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible

assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, being
their fair value at the date of the acquisition less subsequent
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in the consolidated income statement when

the assets is derecognised.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and,
where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling

and distribution.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated balance sheet when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in consolidated income

statement.

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. The accounting policies

adopted in respect of each category of financial assets are

set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the

expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments.

3.

FESHBE &)

EWMITA (&)

THEE

AEBZeMEESEEUT =SB
— BRERATFEFABEZSRHEE B
ARERFBERATHHECREE-FTH
—RUEBESHEEREERRSIBHEA
EERRLIEER —RUEBEREE R
1R T35 48 7E Sk 18 Il e 32 2 B R HR PR 9 32
NEEZERMEECHBERLHE-FES
MEERMNZ TBERHIIMT -

BEEFIFX

L RA KRt B2 BB E 2 B AN
ZEHARBE SN EWAZTTE - BERA
R A ARRS WA (BEMA X
R MBRBRERMNE 2 EA LA X
B RIRAREMABEERITE)ZS
REECEMERFH BEHHE (8
R)BERFTEZ M=

i

\r

o

SREBTAME  WARBERENREERE

=7
it ©

39



TCC International Holdings Limited & E Bl &£ B E R 2 A

90

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL has two subcategories, including
financial assets held for trading and those designated at

FVTPL on initial recognition.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has

a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in consolidated
income statement in the period in which they arise. The net
gain or loss recognised in consolidated income statement
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial

assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
receivables, other receivables, loan receivables, loan to
an associate, time deposits, cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits) are carried at amortised cost using

the effective interest method, less any identified impairment

losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets

at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity

investments.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at

cost less any identified impairment losses at each balance

sheet date subsequent to initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEIEHEX &)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIA (&)

Impairment of financial assets THEERE

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed EEL&EReTHemEE (RATE

for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have

been impacted.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

e default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment

for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in consolidated income statement when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash

flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such

impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade receivables and other receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in consolidated income
statement. When trade receivables and other receivables
are considered uncollectible, they are written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to consolidated income

statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through consolidated income statement to the extent that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would

have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments

will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest

in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the financial liability,

or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Bank loans

Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement
or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of

the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting

policy for borrowings costs.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables, amount due to a minority shareholder and amount
due to immediate holding company are subsequently

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest

method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase
of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss on the purchase, sale issue or cancellation of

the Company’s own equity instruments.

Shares to be issued

An obligation to issue a fixed number of the Company’s
own shares at a fixed amount is an equity instrument and
recognised in the reserve (shares to be issued). The balance
will be transferred to share capital and share premium once

shares are issued. Any excess of par value of issued shares

will be transferred to share premium.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEIEHEX &)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIA (&)
Derecognition ARIFER

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire, or
the assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and any
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in

equity is recognised in consolidated income statement.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in consolidated income

statement.

Share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option

reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in consolidated income
statement with a corresponding adjustment to share option

reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another standard, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another standard, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under
that standard.

3.

FESHBE &)
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BB
AEEREEERETHNEGLEERER
BEZEREE NEEREEPRBITZ
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WoHHRERERAE MZEEZKR
BEVREE AT B EUER - FRIFRIES 1R
BRI SEBFIEA (EUBERT  BERS
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BEEIEREARER A —HMX
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T B3 h0 2= 2 AT U 0 8088 2 IR AE AT b HE
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AR BEGFE (ERBERT BE
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 3, management has made
various estimates based on past experience, expectations
of the future and other information. The key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are discussed below.

Estimated impairment of cash-generating unit (“Chia
Hsin Cement Greater China Holding Corporation”)
Determining whether assets are impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which customer base has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the cash flow
projection on financial budgets approved by management
covering a 5-year period and discount rate of 8.63%
(2007: 10.60%). Cash flow beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated with zero growth rate. As at 31 December
2008, the carrying amount of customer base is nil (2007:
HK$30,770,000) (net of impairment loss of approximately
HK$23,983,000 (2007: nil)).

THREMFTEERR

RERAEEFHNMEIZ T HRE &
HEEREBEELR HRARREMERZ
BEHRELERAFT REERABKREAR
R BYTEYBFEEERABZRE
BEFLHERHABRMABRRZ EEMREK
RAMEMFT 2 EMEZRREEMNT :

HHBRESEEEMRE ([EHAR (FE)
EREGERAAE])
ErAERGREAHEFPFERE IR
CHREEFBNZEABEEL G F
REEZAEREZREASBEREREMN
RO E HIESF 2 M IS TEE A K8.63% 2
FRE(ZZEZEELF:10.60% ) fd &5 788
ReREe NoFHzRZBASRERTIE
REHEH RNZTZEN\F+A=1+—8"
A5 0 B Rk (B /85 18 4923,983,000%8 L (=&
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment
formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by
business segment; and (i) on a secondary segment

reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each
of the Group’s business segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of the other business segments. Summary details of the

business segments are as follows:

() the import, distribution and handling of cement
segment mainly relates to housing development and
infrastructure construction activities in Hong Kong
and the provision of cement handling services in the

Philippines;

(i) the manufacture and distribution of cement, clinker and
slag powder segment mainly relates to construction

activities in PRC; and

(i) the investment holding segment invests in listed and
unlisted equity securities ranging from traditional
businesses, such as companies engaged in the
manufacture and distribution of construction materials,
to high-technology businesses, such as those providing

broadband internet access and content services.

PEER
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\
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments,
revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the

segments based on the location of the assets.

(@) Business segments
The following tables present revenue, profit and certain
asset, liability and expenditure information for the

Group’s business segments.

TEER (&)

EEBEEAEEME D BR WA REER
BEMEM R EEREEMTELEESE

Hh [ o

(@) %% HE

BAKEXEBH B2 Wt wd RE
TEE ARERAXENZINWNT-

Income statement W%
Import, Manufacture and
distribution and distribution of cement,
handling of cement clinker and slag powder Investment holding Consolidated
HERAHKE
AR HEREEKE AR REER REER &8
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBENE  -TRTtF  ZBENF _TRHE  ZBBNFE _ETTHE ZBBAE  _ETtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHL T FHL TiEx THL T THL
Segment revenue a6
Sales and services to HERRERSE T

external customers MREP 144,160 137,592 2,678,667 1,691,576 - = 2,822,827 1,829,168
Segment restlts NEEE 8,604 25,823 (50,998)  (3,508,731) (36,344) 65,532 (78,738)  (3,417,376)
Unallocated corporate expenses KA B AR (5,871) (4,542)
Unallocated other income RABEMBA 93,767 45,246
9158  (3,376,672)
Finance costs BEKA (129,356) (101,921)
Share of results of associates EEBEAR EE 30,140 7,915
Loss before tax BHEIBE (90,058)  (3,470,678)
Income tax expense FriERi it (12,367) (2,736)
Loss for the year AEERE (102,425)  (3,473,414)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Business segments (Continued)

Balance sheet

Import,
distribution and

handling of cement

A0 HEREEKE
2008 2007
ZEENE  —TT4E

5. 2EER (&)
(@) XBoE (&)
BEEEX
Manufacture and

distribution of cement,

clinker and slag powder Investment holding Consolidated
HERDHKE
ARREER REER g8
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBENE CETLE ZRENE  “RERLE ZEENE  CRRLF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT TEx T T#n T T#n Tt
Assets BE
Segment assets PBEE 117,122 123,486 6,744,146 5,921,745 341,947 430,478 7,203,215 6,475,709
Interests in associates BENGER 116,285 104,253
Unallocated assets RAREE 1,100,179 895,810
Consolidated total assets GABEE 8,419,679 7475772
Liabilities AfE
Segment liabilities PEERE 44,570 31,883 521,605 300,725 9,898 24217 576,073 356,825
Unallocated liabilities AOBAE 3,982,142 3,199,966
Consolidated total liabilities GaBAaR 4,558,215 3,556,791
Other segment information: HinpEEs:
Capital additions (note) BRRE (Wit) 1,163 1014 1,304312 6,024,788 - 165 1,305,475 6,025,967
Depreciation and amortisation TEREE 4,169 3,937 256,835 137,080 7,426 1,843 268,430 142,860
Impairment losses recognised MR & RERER L
in the consolidated income HERE
statement - - 28,567 3,722,639 - - 28,567 3,722,639
Note: Hiat -

The amount included goodwill addition but it is fully impaired
in the same year of 2007. The impaired goodwill is related to
segment of manufacture and distribution of cement, clinker

and slag powder.

CHEEBERE BRBFER_ZE
TtFERFEE2FRE BEREERRER
DIAR AR REEN 2 D RER -
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 7 E&ER (&)

(b) Geographical segments (b) HESE
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the REBEBUREE PR FEE
PRC, Philippines and Taiwan. The Group also makes ERBE - AEENTEEFRERE
export sales in United States of America (“United ([EBR]) AR BMEEMERE
States”), Japan, Europe and other countries. HOHE -
THE GROUP KEE
() An analysis of the Group’s turnover by 0] EiRARP 2HEminE S

RE
geographical market of its customers is as follows: ZEEBONBT :

Hong Kong The PRC Philippines Taiwan United States Japan Europe Others Consolidated
-1 48 #RE ol EE] 8% Eif it &8
2008 2007 2008 200 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 200 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 200 2008 2007
CERNE CIRCE CRRAE CRTLE CRRAE CRTLF CRBNE CIRLE CRRAF CIRUEF CERNE CIRLEF CERAR CIRLE CRRNE CITE CRINE CIRtE
HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSODD  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKS000
ThR Tt Tin T FEn FiEn ThR TitT Tin Fhrn Fin FiEn ThR Fin Tin Fhn Fin T

Seqment revenue: ARkE
Sdesandsenices  HERREEHTF

o extemal JRER

customers 161,937 14342 2,581,882 1,656,399 - 23,250 - = - 9190 50,633 7,016 20,69 9734 7,682 0237 2822821 1829168
(i) An analysis of the carrying amount of segment (i) BHBEHEEEMTHEEI D 2D

assets and capital additions analysed by the BEERBERNAEBEZ REES TR

geographical locations in which the assets are I

located are as follows:

Hong Kong The PRC Philippines Taiwan United States Japan Europe Others Consolidated
&% il ] #ER al %8 B Bif it &4

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 207 2008 2007 2008 2000 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2000 2008 2007
CRBNE CTTLE CRRAEF CIRLE CRRAE CTTLF CRRAE CITLE CRRAEF CRRLE CRRNE CITLF CRRAE CITLE CRRAE CRRLE CRMNE CITLF
HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO0D  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSOD0  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'00  HKSOOD  HKS'000  HKS'000
TEL TR ThL TER TR TR THL TR ThL TER TR TR THL TR ThL TRL TR TR
Segment assets AEEE 99,016 88774 660,792 5952683 45216 61568 207,281 72684 - = - = - = - - 120025 6475709
(Capital additions g55E 1,163 33080 1,004312 5302887 = = = = = = = = = = = - 1305475 6025967
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

6. REVENUE 6. W=
Revenue represents: Wa g
() invoiced amount of sales of cement, clinker and slag () MBEZITHN RERB@ENEET%E
powder, net of trade discounts, returns and sales 2K AR RBEMIHERRERE K

related taxes; and

(i) income from the rendering of services. (i) RERE WA -
An analysis of revenue is as follows: a2 AT
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Revenue e
Sales of cement, clinker and slag SHE KR - AR R IRE D
powder 2,822,827 1,805,918
Rendering of services AR - 23,250
2,822,827 1,829,168
7. INVESTMENT INCOME 7. REWA
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Interest income FEWA 14,081 7,370
Dividends from listed equity investments ~ E AR E R E 16,662 22,033
30,743 29,408
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7.

INVESTMENT INCOME (continued) 7. BEWA (#)
Investment income earned on financial assets, analysed by CRMEEMRNCIEERAZEERRZ
category of asset, is as follows: DT
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Held-for-trading investments BIERSRE2EE 16,662 22,033
Loans and receivables B & EWRIE
(including cash and bank deposits) (BiERe MBTFR) 14,081 7,370
30,743 29,403
OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hil A WKk EIE
2008 2007
ZEENF —EELEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHIT
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - HEMEEYE
plant and equipment - 534
Change in fair value of held-for-trading RERZABE2IRE
investments N EEE (61,644) 53,060
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—EEE R ez W - 5
Gain on disposal of HEATHTEERE 2 W
available-for-sale investments 8,185 -
Handling charges FEEA 2,590 2,319
Net exchange gain P& 54,5 ) 58,005 26,631
Government grants (Note) BT w8 BE (A7 aE) 11,344 4,879
Management fee income BEBWA 1,123 900
Others Hith 9,214 4,927
28,817 93,255
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8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Htlt A - WKEREE (&)
(Continued)
Note: The local government offered government grants to Hta: A BRE &P B2 B A FR
the subsidiary established in the PRC to encourage the HBATRE)  FEAREIRE - Wiz E A
investment. Such government grants will provide to the AR EIE - R T ZM B A R 2 BUF#E B)
subsidiary up to 2011 with the condition that the subsidiary BREEE-_T——F-

will continue the operation.

9. FINANCE COSTS

9. RME KA

2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Interest on: AT ZFE
Bank loans wholly repayable BARAFAZHEEZ
within five years RITER 162,866 114,298
Loan from immediate holding company JENEBER R EER 2,040 =
Total borrowing costs RIEE A 164,906 114,298
Less: amounts capitalised in R ERLTER
construction in progress BERtLEH (85,550) (12,377)
129,356 101,921
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the FANBRTERZEERNANE R —REE
general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a B WIS EREERNYSF6.56% (=&
capitalisation rate of 6.56% per annum (2007: 6.29% per BA4F: FEE.20% ) 2 BA(LE EETE o

annum) to expenditure on qualifying assets.
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10. LOSS BEFORE TAX 10. BRFE AT ES 18
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Loss before tax has been arrived B % AT B 1R B 1R
at after charging the following: T3 &8 :
Director’s remuneration (Note 71) EEMe (Hatr1) 3,822 3,192
Other staff cost HAth 8 TRCAR
Salaries and other benefits FokEMmER 82,038 57,449
Other pension costs and mandatory H MR K& KA &
provident fund contributions B & HR 5,266 1,926
Total staff costs @8 T A 91,126 62,567
Cost of inventories recognised as expense HEFE Z kA 2,517,912 1,489,120
Cost of services rendered R RS 2 KA - 2,624
Depreciation of property, WE- BERRETE
plant and equipment 238,337 134,002
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TE S 7 & SR IR 20,008 5,373
Amortisation of intangible assets m A ERE
(included in cost of sales and general (B ASEEKAR R
and administrative express) —MBERITEBAXR) 10,085 3,485
Auditor’s remuneration % EAH BN & 3,071 2,902
Operating lease payments in respect of HEMFEzKEHEHE
rented premises 8,595 6,365
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE BE K
plant and equipment B2 B8 50 -
Share of tax of associates (included FE(LEEE QAR (E&
in share of results of associates) AFE(RE & N RI%E) 5,697 3,942
The Group has no forfeited contributions from the retirement REERZREFELERKRESHTEIZE

benefit scheme for both years.
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each Directors are as

MNEEZREENS

EEME
ENRENTRESTZMEMT:

follows:
Koo, Chang Chang Wang Liao Chih Shieh,
Cheng-Yun, Wu Shan  An-Ping, Kang-Lung, Lishin, Poon Huai, Ching Kang, Jen-Chung, Total
Leslie  Yih Chin Weijian Nelson Jason  Elizabeth Donald  Kenneth Roger 2008
&t
ERA REN ERE RZY wHG Fad BAE HEE HER —BENE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THT TAT TETL TER TAT TAL TEL TER TR TAL
Fees ik 200 - 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 1,600
Other emoluments EtMe
Salaries and HERAMEM
other benefits - 1,282 - - - - - - - 1,282
Performance related ~ ERBHAZ
incentive bonus REEA 840 100 - - - - - - - 940
Total emoluments EMe 1,040 1,382 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 3,822
Koo, Liao Chih Shieh,
Cheng-Yun, Wu Shan  Poon Huai, Ching Kang, Jen-Chung, Total
Leslie  Yih Chin Weijian Donald Kenneth Roger 2007
@t
ERA R&EN Efgg BARE HER #ER —BBLE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET TAT TAT TAT THT THT
Fees e 200 = 200 200 200 200 1,000
Other emoluments At e
Salaries and other benefits e REMER - 1,282 - - - - 1,282
Performance related incentive ~ EREHE 2
bonus RETEA 840 70 - - - - 910
Total emoluments B e 1,040 1,362 200 200 200 200 3,192

The performance related incentive bonus is determined with

reference to the results of the Grou

p.

HERAHN 2 BEEANREAEEESA
BE-
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ MN.EEREEME &)
EMOLUMENTS (continuead)
Employees’ emoluments EEME
During the year, the five highest paid individuals included AFERNAERRFATEEREES (=
two Directors (2007: two Directors), details of whose ZELF WA AFHEHIRN Lo
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the ERGeFHEE Z2HFMFEEHINT

remaining highest paid individuals are as follows:

2008 2007
—EENE —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Salaries and other benefits e M HEMERL 2,147 1,870
Retirement benefits scheme contributions Rk & 5T 2|4 & 29 =
Performance related incentive bonus B 3% 35 B R 2 SR EhAE AT 338 763
2,514 2,633

Their emoluments were within the following bands: HHF SN F o &EF :

Number of employee

BEAH

2008 2007
= LG
Up to HK$1,000,000 T % 11,000,000/ 7T 3 3
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to AREBRAFATERES ESEHHZ
the Directors, supervisors or the five highest paid individuals EEF AT NE  AERS A
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as BAREE BESERRR 2 [E - B E

compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors and EEREENTFARET & -

supervisors has waived any remuneration during the year.
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. IS8 X H
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH T
Current tax: R ERFRIA
Hong Kong BB 2,448 1,439
PRC Enterprise income tax PR EFTISR 8,612 2,302
Other jurisdictions H iR AR R 1,723 325
12,783 4,066
Under(over) provision in prior years: BEFERETR
(EBEERE ) -
Hong Kong BB 927 (333)
PRC Enterprise income tax B ERTE 2,208 =
3,135 (333)
Deferred tax: (Note 29) EIEREIE © (H13£29)
Current year KEE (8,551) (997)
12,367 2,736

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2007: 17.5%)

of the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation

arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

EBFNER BB REE 2 (At EER S
F%16.5% ( ZEZLF 1 17.5% ) 2 i =R
FTE - H M AR R 2B TR K AERE A

FRERITREGFE -
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 12. i8R H (2)
The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss FRAZRBRERTBEERERANEERZ
per the consolidated income statement as follows: HERMAT :
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Loss before tax B 5 Bl 5 18 (90,058) (3,470,678)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of VAZS 3 7 45 5 %£16.5%51
16.5% (2007: 17.5%) BZHE(ZFTLEF:
17.5% ) (14,860) (607,369)
Tax effect of share of profits FEiEEE R AR 2
of associates MG (4,973) (1,385)
Tax effect of expenses that are not P JEE JE JE AR F ) M g A1 AT 30
deductible in determining taxable profit el Pl o % 26,769 665,151
Tax effect of income that are not taxable — FA % & & 7% 1% i Fll I B 7B =
in determining taxable profit HMZWA RIS 2 (3,971) (17,727)
Under (over) provision in prior years BEFERBETRE
(FBEERE) 3,135 (333)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZMBEIE 2
MBEE 12,451 1,805
Utilisation of tax losses previously not LRI ARFER 2
recognised THIEEE - (13,821)
Effect of tax exemptions granted FEI B AR ERETRIE 2
to PRC subsidiaries o & (191) (40,380)
Income tax on concessionary rate HEBMETGHE CMEH (14,976) (16,951)
Effect of different tax rates of REMADEERLE 2
subsidiaries operating MEBARZTRBE
in other jurisdictions P 7,006 35,589
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings K2 Uz 2 FEHIF 1,848 =
Others HAt 129 (1,843)
Tax expense for the year AEFRIBZ N 12,367 2,736
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuea)

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are exempted from
PRC Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from their
first profit-making year, followed by a 50% reduction for the

next three years.

In addition to the income tax expense charged to
consolidated income statement, a deferred tax credit of
HK$586,000 (a deferred tax charge in 2007: HK$1,060,000)

has been recognised in equity in the year.

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed the Revenue Bill 2008 which includes the reduction
in corporate tax rate by 1% to 16.5% effective from the
year of assessment 2008/2009. The effect of such decrease
has been reflected in measuring the current and deferred

taxation for the year ended 31 December 2008.

On 16 March 2007, the People’s Republic of China
promulgated the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Law”) by Order No.
63 of the President of the People’s Republic of China. On
6 December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. The New Law
and Implementation Regulations will change the tax rate
from 33% to 25% for all PRC subsidiaries from 1 January
2008. Enterprises that are currently entitled to exemption
or reductions from the standard income tax rate for a fixed
term (such as tax holidays) would continue to enjoy such

treatment until the fixed term expires, but not beyond 2012.

12. i8R H (#)

RETRBRERIER ARARZET
TENBARE AEENFEREEME
RReBATEREEMEN MEBR=FE
MR-

BrBARE WS R Z TSR E o
586,000 T (ZET L FRLERIBEFX :
1,060,000/ 7T, ) Z IR E T IE K &2 B A AR F
SRR HE N FERR ©

—ZEENFAXAZ+KH %55%152@@

B_ZET NFRABKRIER BB
2008/2009.:%&@?5%11A H‘”‘Tﬂ S
REFAEI1%ZE16.5% ° 2 7 TS T XA
B EERFEBRE_STN\F+_A
=+ —RBIEFEZ & BHIE RRERIER
BT

RZZEZE+F=ZA+"H FEREFEH
FRELENTZRBEMTPRACEMSH
E(FHBRE] - RZZETLFE+ZAR
H - PRGBS T HBOEERAR 1R
BHBEREERMAR BT N\F—
A—HE FETBERBAR XA
33%FHEE25% I E F HAR A (1!
RN EREIREFLEMEHEZ D
XHNEB=A%EHE BEZECHRE
MLl T T —F-
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. R E
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of BEefEZBRRNEBEEZE_ZETN\F+=A
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008. =t—BHEFEZRHEES -
14.LOSS PER SHARE 14.8REE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the QB Z B R EAG TR E AR E B TR IR A
shareholders of the Company is based on the following data: TEEHE
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Loss for the purposes of FTESREANEE
basic loss per share FrF 2 &8
(loss for the year attributable (KRAlz R
to shareholders of the Company) B AFEEER) (155,523) (3,506,645)
Number of shares vl 4=
2008 2007
—EEBNF —ETLHF
’000 ‘000
T’ F A%
Weighted average number of STEEREARNEBIEMAZ
ordinary shares for the purposes of - AR N #E T30 AR 2R
basic loss per share 1,296,153 867,654
No dilutive loss per share has been presented for the years HRITEERESSIR=_ZEZN\R_ZET
ended 31 December 2008 and 2007 because the exercise TtHEZEREBRS BUE2FEHE—
of share options would result in a decrease in the loss per TENRZZEEELFFA=FT—HIEHF
share in 2008 and 2007. Bz ol #EEReF-

112



Annual Report 2008 F 2§

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

15. ¥ %

Cement  Leasehold Furniture,
plant land and fixtures
and office Plant and and office Motor Construction
facilities building ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Lighters in progress Total
BR-%E
KER HELHR RBDE
k% BAZEF BEREE RE AE 2 EEIR 8y
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TER TER TiER TR TER
COST OR VALUATION RASREE
As at 1 January 2007 RZEZ+E-F—-A 631,462 15,400 1,026,313 18,883 7,294 7,731 132,492 1,839,575
Exchange adjustments EHAZE 63,565 - 107,730 1,489 536 - 10,060 183,380
Additions NE 1,425 = 14,886 541 589 - 401,613 419,054
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries  WEH B A FFE 601,280 - 1,184,257 8,546 3,314 = 7648 1,805,045
Surplus on revaluation SER% - 5,300 - - - - - 5,300
Disposals He (402) - () (292) (480) - - (1,179)
Transfers i 21,521 - 10,203 515 - - (32,239) -
At 31 December 2007 RZET+E+=A=1+-A 1,318,851 20,700 2,343,384 29,682 11,253 7,731 519,674 4,251,175
Exchange adjustments EH AR 39,751 = 86,837 1,599 629 - 17,666 146,482
Additions HE 20,988 - 9,008 1,610 165 - 1,273,704 1,305,475
Deficit on revaluation BB - (8,000) - - - - - (3,000)
Disposals ek = - (421) (658) (4,899) - - (5,878)
Transfers i 239,868 - 1,067,903 3,398 2,345 - (1,313514) -
At 31 December 2008 R=BEN\E+-A=1-H 1,619,458 17,700 3,506,711 35,731 9,493 7,731 497,430 5,694,254
Comprising: Bf:
At cost KAE 1,619,458 = 3,506,711 35,731 9,493 7,731 497,430 5,676,554
At valuation 2008 “TT\FRHE - 17,700 - - - - - 17,700
1,619,458 17,700 3,506,711 35,731 9,493 7,731 497,430 5,694,254
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND Rt ERE{E
IMPAIRMENT
As at 1 January 2007 RZEZ+E-A—-H 72,836 - 134,079 9,743 4,260 7,663 - 228,571
Exchange adjustments EH AR 5,745 - 9,482 621 207 - - 16,075
Provided for the year REERE 32,858 697 96,609 2,604 1,144 - - 134,002
Elimination on revaluation St - (697) - - - - - (697)
Elimination on disposals HEmE (16) - 2 (258) (350) - - (626)
At 31 December 2007 RZZZ+E+-A=1-H 111,423 - 240,168 12,800 5,281 7,653 - 377,325
Exchange adjustments EHAR 5,804 - 18,650 1,062 426 - - 25,932
Provided for the year REERE 59,576 596 171,173 4,652 2,340 - - 238,337
Impairment loss recognised in the RiFEWaRBR 2 AERE
consolidated income statement 4,584 - - - - - - 4,584
Elimination on revaluation iyl - (596) - - - - - (596)
Elimination on disposals eyt - - (330) (525) (3,841) - - (4,696)
At 31 December 2008 R=BEN\E+-A=1-H 181,387 - 429,661 17,979 4,206 7,653 - 640,886
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2008 R-BE\£+-A=1+-A 1,438,071 17,700 3,077,050 17,752 5,287 78 497,430 5,053,368
At 31 December 2007 RZEE+F+-A=+-H 1,207,428 20,700 2,108,216 16,882 5972 78 519,674 3,873,850
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.ME - BERKZE &)
(Continued)
The following rates are used for the deprecation of property, ME - BWENMRETAITERNT

plant and equipment:

Cement plant and facilities 3/5% — 4% IR TR K2 7% e 3% — 4%
Leasehold land and Over the unexpired term MELHWRERAE RHELKREMFE
office buildings of lease BF
Plant and machinery 6%/5% — 20% TR 55 K i 2% 6%/3% — 20%
Furniture, fixtures and Rh-EBER 20% — 33'/3%
office equipment 20% — 33'/5% MAZRME
Motor vehicles 20% B 20%
Lighters 10% = A 10%
Included in construction in progress is interest capitalised of FAEEIREBZ2EAR(ANBE LD A
approximately HK$35,550,000 (2007: HK$12,377,000). 35,550,000/ 7T ( ZZFZF 4 : 12,377,000
HIT) °
During the year, the Directors conducted a review of FN EFFHAEEREEE WRAESZ
the Group’s manufacturing assets and determined that BEELRRE Bt - AERER D K
a number of those assets were impaired. Accordingly, VB~ PR R TEE M D B ETS 2 B KRR
impairment losses of HK$4,584,000 have been recognised K 5% i B 1 SRR (B 5 15 4,584,000/% 7T © H
in respect of cement plant and facilities, which are used in REERE—FIER  ZSFKER KX
the manufacture and distribution of cement, clinker and slag 15 45 7 2%

powder segment. These cement plant and facilities will be

demolished due to the further expansion of production lines.

In 2007, the Group acquired the property, plant and N—EELFRE IEH&%WE alz
equipment on acquisition of subsidiaries. The property, EMEREDE BERSE Rt
plant and equipment was fair valued on 31 October 2007 FT+HA=T—RH BIAE éf%E%HEEW
at HK$1,805,045,000 by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting TEREEFEERBER AR NUNIERFRA
Limited, an independent firm of qualified professional BRARMEHME BERKEETA
valuers, at open market value on existing use basis. (B - {8 A1,805,045,0007 T °
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The leasehold land and office building is situated in Hong
Kong under long term leases and was revalued on 31
December 2008 at HK$17,700,000 (2007: HK$20,700,000)
by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, an independent firm of
qualified professional valuers, at open market value on
existing use basis. The resulting deficit arising from the
revaluation at 31 December 2008 of HK$2,404,000 (surplus
2007: HK$5,997,000) was dealt with in the land and building
revaluation reserve. Had there not been any revaluation of
this property, its carrying amount at cost less accumulated

depreciation and any impairment losses at 31 December

2008 would be HK$297,000 (2007: HK$298,000).

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:

15.

16.

ME-BERSZE#)

BUAERBEGEMPEHITARAD
ARZTEENFF+T_A=+T—HHAE
ERERBAANUNESZHAEL MR
MAERF REBRERBR 2 AMMMA
B4 B17,700,0008 T (Z T L F:
20,700,000 7T) - R =TT N\NF+ = A
=t+—BZEMHEA /2,404,000 T (=
=T+ F: A#45,997,0008 L)  ER L
Hh [ 48 T B A AR B B o fin 3 S ET L)
EELRER RZTEENF+_A=1+—
B2RAKREERRITE REMRBME
B 18 1% 15 A297,0008 T (T T L F:
298,000/ 7T ) °

ANHEERIER
AEEZENEERARHE

2008 2007
ZEENF —EELEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong LR B BIEINAR HR
Medium-term lease HOBEEZ i 722,448 735,034

Analysed for reporting purposes as: AITEZMA R

Current portion AR ER =R D 20,019 20,137
Non-current portion JERHEAE 702,429 714,897

722,448 735,034
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17.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. B &E
Customer ~ Computer Mining
Goodwill base software rights Total
[k RFE® Ehat R By

HK$'000 ~ HK§'000  HKE'000  HKEO00  HK$'000
TAL TAT TAL TAT TAT

CoSsT ﬁJZZI&
At 1 January 2007 —ET+F—-f—H - - 206 19,133 19,339
Additions /_‘E = = 9,414 37,914 47,328
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries BB B 2 Al E £ 3,722,639 31,901 - - 3,754,540
Exchange adjustments ERIECE - - 4 1,425 1,429
At 31 December 2007 RZETLEF

+ZA=+-H 3,722,639 31,901 9,624 58,472 3,822,636
Exchange adjustments BB A% - - 290 1,988 2,278
At 31 December 2008 R-ZBENE

+=ZA=1+-H 3,722,639 31,901 9,914 60,460 3,824,914

AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT ﬁ@é&;ﬁfﬁ

At 1 January 2007 “ZT+E-H-H - - - 787 787
Charge for the year Mr B - 1,131 947 1,407 3,485
Impairment loss recognised RixalERER L
in consolidated income statement HEEE 3,722,639 - = - 3,722,639

Exchange adjustments EREE - - - 55 55
At 31 December 2007 RZET+F

+=—A=+—H 3,722,639 1,131 947 2,199 3,726,916
Charge for the year ZL@F 3 - 6,787 1,102 2,196 10,085
Impairment loss recognised REEERERERLZ

in consolidated income statement  JE{EF - 23,983 - - 23,983

Exchange adjustments R - - 26 75 101
At 31 December 2008 R=ZZENE

+=A=+—-8H 3,722,639 31,901 2,075 4,470 3,761,085
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZBN\F

+=H=+—H - - 7,839 55,990 63,829
At 31 December 2007 RZZTLE

+-A=+—H - 30,770 8,677 56,273 95,720
The intangible assets are amortised over their estimated EREAEREGBETRFHARNERER
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following AT X

rates per annum:

Customer base 21.3% BEPER 21.3%
Mining rights 2% PRE R 2%
Computer software 20% B 20%
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18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE

ASSETS
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group

recognised an impairment loss of HK$23,983,000 in relation
to customer base arising on the acquisition of Chia Hsin
Cement Greater China Holding Corporation (“CHCGC”) (the
“Acquisition”). In 2007, the Group recognised an impairment
loss of HK$3,722,639,000 (2008: nil) in relation to goodwill
arising on the Acquisition. For the purposes of impairment
testing, customer base set out in note 17 has been allocated
to one individual cash generating unit (“CGU”), Jurong TCC
Cement Co., Limited (“JCC”) (previously known as Chia
Hsin Jingyang Cement Company Limited), a subsidiary
of CHCGC, engaged in manufacturing and distribution of

cement, clinker and slag powder segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
recognised an impairment loss of HK$3,722,639,000 in
relation to goodwill arising on the Acquisition. For the
purposes of impairment testing, goodwill set out in note
17 has been allocated to one individual cash generating
unit (“CGU"), JCC. The carrying amount of goodwill (net of
accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 December 2007
allocated to a CGU is nil (2008: nil).

18. B EERERAHA

REBEZE-ZZENF+_A=+—HLHF
ER - AEBRKERZFHKE (RE)E
A& D AR AE ([CHCGC ) (T EE
FHE|)MEEZEPERBERREERE
23,983,000 L - R _ZEELF -KA&EH
HUEBEEMEEA A EBRAREEIE
3,722,639,0008B L (ZZTENF: FT) o
RETREANS ME17TMHE TR R
REBOE T —EBIZRESELEERN
(REeELEN]ATARKEERA
a(fJccl) - (AmEHRBIEBRA
7)) % A F ACHCGCZ —R#REF AR -
AR RBEENEERKHIMBAR -

P

REE_TTLF+_A=+t—HILFE
N AEBREBEEEMELECEHERR
BB E5183,722,639,000/8 7T © & #ET R A
A MEI7TRR A EBECESRE T — (@
BYRELBM([ReELEM])
JCC -BBR_TTLHF+_A=+—H
ZHEHEE (MR RRERSR) DEERS
EXBNZERBRT(ZTTNEFT)-
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z -EZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE
ASSETS (continuead)

As detailed in note 30, a goodwill of HK$3,722,639,000
arose from the Acquisition, which was mainly attributed by
the substantial increase in the share price of the Company
between 11 June 2007 (being the latest applicable trading
date for the Company’s press announcement of the
Acquisition on 14 June 2007) and the share prices on (i) 16
October 2007 (being the date when the Acquisition became
unconditional) and (ii) 30 October 2007 (being the date when
the Group acquired not less than 90% of the disinterested
parties), respectively. The recoverable amount of the CGU
which is calculated by discounting the expected cash
flow generated from the CGU was lower than the carrying
amount of the CGU. As a result, the amount in excess of
the recoverable amount of the CGU is fully provided for in
the year. In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
in note 3, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the goodwill. At 31 December 2007, the
Directors of the Company are of the view that there is no
significant additional impairment on the carrying amount of

the CGU.

The basis of the recoverable amount of the above CGU and

its major underlying assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and discount
rate of 8.63% (2007: 10.60%). Cash flow beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated with zero growth rate. Other key
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on the
unit’s past performance and management’s expectations for

the market development.

18.

BrEERENR @)

AN FESOFT R M - I B IEATE A 27
#3,722,639,0008 T EFEZHAR A RN -F
ELERAT—B(RRARZEZTLHF
NATHEBFIEKEEERER XEE
ERXRGHIRNIZEZELF+TA+TB (K
BEEAABEKGZB)RIH=ZZTZTLF
TA=+H (KR&EBHET D R0%%E T
EBRERND2B) ZRERE EAFBC
ReEEBM 2B EHRECGRBHERE
ReELBU BHRERSHETHAT
U E)BERZBCELBU 2 REE R
- EeReEEBNAIKEIEEE L ©HE
RAREEEBEEE - BENAIMELE
B agstiE B REBEETSEN)
ROBMEBZEEBE- R-_ETLF+ A
=+ —RH ARFEZRA REELBN
Z IREEN S ERFEINAE -

PR ELASBUZAIREHRBRETE
HERRZEEHRNT

UL ER € B A B A 2 P] Y (B SRR T AR R
BEABFEETE ZTEREAEARR
EEEMMtEREREF MK EE

ReRETER  LAK8.63% (ZEZLF:

10.60% ) ZITFR K - MEFHI 218 2 IR SR
ENRTHEREHRE EMEM[HRESR
A/ RERBEzERBEFEREZEE
BREEREHEREN  ZEMHATIR
BZEMCBARAREEBETSER
Z BB mAES °
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19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOAN

TO AN ASSOCIATE

19.BELTRBRBENTE

2

2008 2007
—EENF  -TTLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Cost of investments in associates Bt N R ZIRE KA
Unlisted JEET 55,343 55,343
Share of post-acquisition profit, B EEZ
reserves and net of i M R
dividends received (R WALE) 60,942 48,910
116,285 104,253
Loan to an associate Bt N BRI E R 16,800 25,946

The loan to an associate is interest-free, unsecured and will

not be repaid within one year from the balance sheet date.

BEANERASE MEMLBTER

REBE—FARERE-

1
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19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOAN
TO AN ASSOCIATE (continuead)

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2008 and

2007 are as follows:

(%)

19. BEQNTARERBEQTER

R-BENFR-_FFLF+T_A=+—
BASE 2B SRR FBERAINMT :

Place of Proportion of Proportion of
incorporation ownership voting
Name of associate and operation interest power held Principal activity
BRERZ PR
BERNT AR SRR 3L I E it B ke 4 R ERE L B FEXEK
Quon Hing Concrete Hong Kong 50% 50% Production and
Company Limited B distribution of
(“Quon Hing”) ready-mixed
v ER R+ AR A A concrete
([7EH]) EERDH
TEF R B+
Hong Kong Concrete Hong Kong 31.5% 31.5% Production and
Company Limited BB distribution of
SRR T BRA A ready-mixed
concrete
TEH R B+
Kenic Investment British Virgin Islands/ 40% 40% Investment holding

Holdings Limited
BAREERK

Hong Kong
HKEREZEE /B

BREZER



Annual Report 2008 F 2§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z-FEZENF+=-A=+—HIFE

19.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOAN 19.BE NAIRERBEELATER
TO AN ASSOCIATE (continuead) (#)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s AEFEBZBERNRZHBEERBENT

associates is set out below:

2008 2007

—EENE —EETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH T FE T

Total assets HEE 559,677 558,854

Total liabilities FEY=RE (277,151) (306,480)

Net assets BEFR 282,526 252,374
Group’s share of associates’ net assets AEBEHBERNR 2

BEFHE 116,285 104,253

Revenue WA 764,621 589,519

Profit for the year N 5 A 59,867 22,597
Group’s share of profit of AEBEBE AT 2

associates for the year KEE i K 30,140 7,915
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20.INVESTMENTS 20. &
2008 2007
—EENE —EETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Available-for-sale investments AHBERE
Unlisted equity securities ELETRAES 58,713 71,564
Held-for-trading investments BEXZRAEZRE
Listed securities EHES
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, MNEE FHZRAZS
at market value BHE 16,256 30,939
Equity securities listed elsewhere, REA 5 £ 2 BRARFE
at market value 5 HmiE 185,830 289,911
202,086 320,850
Quoted investment funds, at fair value BEEKEES BAYE 55,724 14,188
257,810 335,038

Available-for-sale investments

The above unlisted investments represent investments
in unlisted equity securities issued by private entities
incorporated in Hong Kong and Taiwan. They are measured
at cost less impairment at each balance sheet date because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the Directors of the Company are of the opinion that
their fair values cannot be measured reliably. During the
year, the Group disposed HK$12,851,000 available-for-
sale investments and recognised the gain on disposal of
HK$8,185,000.

AHHERE
AEEEMBRERRNREBRAETMAAK
VZAABBBETZRLITRAZLFK
B NERELEEBURARRETE  RE
REBATEZEABEFTEAN At
RRAREERRBEZ R FETREAISEMH
FTEFA- AKEHE12,851,0008 T2
A ERE - WHERS, 185,000/ T2
& Wiz o
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20. INVESTMENTS (continued) 20.R& (4)
Held-for-trading investments BREXZRARZRE
The fair value of the held-for-trading investments is NERERGAGR 2 REZ AT ETIRE
determined based on the quoted market bid prices HERZ %o mZE A Bk mgiE
available on the relevant exchanges or prices provided by ittt v BRET - EEBHREASAIES
counterparty financial institutions. The quoted investment BB EEIRM o BREE-

funds can be disposed of at the prices provided by the

counterparty financial institutions on a regular basis.

21.LOAN RECEIVABLES 21. ERERK

2008 2007
—EENF —TRLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Variable-rate loan receivables FE B R ERE R 49,309 27,291
As at 31 December 2008, the loan receivables include RZZEZNFE+_A=+—H EKER
a RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to HK$33,000,000) and 2 &8 Bl A A R®30,000,0007T (HE
RMB14,827,000 (equivalent to HK$16,309,000) variable 733,000,000/ 7T ) & A R #14,827,000
rate loans with reference to the benchmark loan rate of 7t (& 116,309,000/ 70 ) * JHIR & &
financial institutions set by the PRC maturing on 25 April %EZ%E%%T%ETA%EﬂJfZ@@
2009 and 31 August 2009 respectively. The loan receivables BEFE FHBASAZSZTNFNA
carry interest with reference to the benchmark loan rates of —+tHEHR _g’gﬂiﬂﬂ T—H-fE
financial institutions set by The People’s Bank of China. WEFH 2 FMETI2ZEFRE ARRITA

HE 2 & BB EREERN KR -
As at 31 December 2007, the loan receivables include RZZZLF+ZA=1+—H EREXK
RMB17,653,000 (equivalent to HK$18,780,000) and Z 2D R/ AR¥A17,653,0007T (HHE
RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to HK$8,511,000) variable rate 718,780,000/ 7T ) & A £ #8,000,0007T
loans with reference to the benchmark loan rate of financial (18E 578,511,000/ 7T) * THiR2E R BH
institutions set by the PRC maturing on 30 November 2008 EZ%@M&%E KB AR K 22 B) B Kt
and 27 September 2008 respectively. The loan receivables E-HHASANAZZEENGE T —H=1
carry interest with reference to the benchmark loan rates of H &_j?j?)\ijlﬁ —ttR-BKER
financial institutions set by The People’s Bank of China. Frbft 2 A B T52Z h B A RIBITFTHIE 2

SR EREERKRAH -
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23.

22.INVENTORIES 22. 78
2008 2007
—EENE —EETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T FET
Raw materials and consumables R E K 5 FE R 307,792 221,933
Work in progress R 46,688 15,903
Finished goods LYK i 55,803 34,925
410,283 272,761
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. B E B IR
2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAIT
The Group's trade receivables comprise:  ANEBEEUWE Z RN B
Trade receivables from outsiders JEUWINF AT 2 E S EER 199,651 289,653
Trade receivables from associates WL RNA 2 E SRR 9,831 6,298
Trade receivables from related parties EKREEALTZESER
(note) (Hiat) 953 24,272
210,435 320,223

Note: The related parties refer to the subsidiaries of a substantial

shareholder.

Hiat -

BEALTHEARARAR 2R ZHE
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I =

23.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Before accepting any new customers with credit limit, the
Group assesses the historical background and credibility
which are available in the market. The credit limit will
be based on the result of research. Credit limit will be
reviewed once a year. More than 85% (2007: 85%) of the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is
recovered within three months after the balance sheet date.
No provision has been made for the trade receivables as at
31 December 2008 (2007: nil).

The Group’s policy is to allow a credit period of 90-180
days to its trade customers (including associates and
related parties). The following is an aged analysis of trade

receivables at the balance sheet date:

23.ENE Z R (&)

REMNTRNAEBERERBEZHE /AT
AEEGHEMSEPAESLELE SR
RAZRKTE -RERRBSRBHATERE
E-AKERETFEEN —RBRERE-
#Bi885% (— T T L F :85% ) 2 ERE S
RRRRBBHXKREERE BEgREE
HE=EAAKE R=ZFZNF+=H
=t+t—B FAEEVEREKRESERE
HERBE (S5 &) -

AEBBRRAETESEE (BEBE QT
N A A 1)90-180H Z BRER B « LA T A4
ERRKREZERZERE DT

2008 2007

—EENEF —EELE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT THT

0-90 days 0-90H 181,646 281,158
91-180 days 91 - 180H 28,789 39,065
210,435 320,223
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

BE-FE/\E+A=+—HILFE

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired (Continued)

The Group will provide fully for any receivables over 365
days because historical experience is such that receivables
that are past due beyond 365 days are generally not

recoverable.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk,
with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties

and customers.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES/PLEDGED
BANK DEPOSIT/TIME DEPOSITS

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of

three months or less, which carry at market interest rates.

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates
which range from 0.01% to 4.14% (2007: 0.72% to 1.53%)
per annum. The pledged bank deposit and time deposits
carry fixed interest rate ranged from 1.71% to 4.14% (2007:
0.81% to 3.87%) per annum. The pledged bank deposit
will be released upon the settlement of relevant bank

borrowings.

Majority of the cash and bank balances were denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market. The RMB exchange
rate is determined by the Government of the PRC and
the remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the Government of the
PRC.

23.

24,

BWE SR (&)
DRBEREHREZBEKESER>
B ()

A8 B 5 7 #218365 B 2 (LAl kB 2
EAHRAE REAREELER BHE
iB365 B 2 8 I K IE — AR5 S U B o

AEBYESAEPZEERR ERR
DHRAREHFHIREF-

RERBTHERCEFET
FROEHEN
e RETEBEEAEERE2ZRER
BA=EARLSR=EA 28 HETSF
%585 2 RITER -

RITHAMRIZETHNENFEF0.01%
£414% 2B (ZEEELF:0.72% %
1.58% ) 5T B - BIFRITERKREHER
ZEENENFTEF1.71%E414% (=T
TH&F:081%%3.87% )7 B EMR
TEREREERBIRITIEERERR -

K2R RBITEHARNAREF
B MAREDAARBEETS BRI
B \RBERXHPEBRNFEE  MxF
FRIR BE ) B3R SN A 52 B U B A 2 S
FEE PR Il BT 5 IR
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25. TRADE PAYABLES

The Group’s trade payables comprise:

BN E Z IR

AEERNB SRR

2008 2007
—EENF —ETELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Trade payables to outsiders JERFINR AT ZE SHER 204,672 116,769
Trade payables to ultimate JER&EERAR 2
holding company B SRR 7,699 10,225
Trade payables to fellow subsidiaries ENRZRMBARZ
CE LT 94,357 467
Trade payables to minority shareholders A —EHEA A
of a subsidiary LEBRRZE HEX 4,844 2,750
311,572 130,211

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the

balance sheet date:

UTRAREERZERNE SRR ZRED
#r :

2008 2007

—EENF —ETELF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TER FAET

0-90 days 0-90H 299,101 110,567
91-180 days 91 - 180H 7,053 2,281
181-365 days 181 - 365H 1,937 11,481
Over 365 days B iE365H 3,481 5,882
311,572 130,211

The trade balances due to the ultimate holding company,
fellow subsidiaries and minority shareholders of a subsidiary
are unsecured, interest-fee and repayable in accordance

with normal trading terms.

ENREERAR RRMBAR MEAR
ALBRRZESEHRAEEN 28K
BELRESHRNEE-
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26. BANK LOANS

26.8R1TER

2008 2007
—EEN\HF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Bank loans RITER 3,550,519 3,023,090
Secured PEEigE 675,752 675,885
Unsecured i 2,874,767 2,347,205
3,550,519 3,023,090
The loans are repayable as follows: RIBEEHAT
On demand or within one year R—FAEERER 1,440,520 1,005,362
More than one year but BB —FETBB _F
not exceeding two years 1,287,029 912,030
More than two years but fEiE = F{E AR F
not exceeding five years 822,970 1,105,698
3,550,519 3,023,090
Less: Amount due for settlement within AR —FANEEZ
one year (shown under current FIA (FR R E
liabilities) BEET) (1,440,520) (1,005,362)
Amount due for settlement after one year 7BR —FRERE 2 T 2,109,999 2,017,728
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26. BANK LOANS (Continued) 26. RITEM (&)
The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies AEBURNEEEEEE AN E¥ETHE
other than the functional currencies of the Group are set out ZEERT:
below:
us
HK$ dollars
BT EH
‘000 ‘000
T T
(HK dollar
equivalent)
(BLEE)
As at 31 December 2008 R—_FEFENF+-_A=+t—H 1,103,600 802,308
As at 31 December 2007 R-EZELF+-_H=+—H 1,108,900 795,484

All bank loans of the Group are variable-rate loans which
carry interest with reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”), London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”)
and benchmark loan rates of financial institutions set by The

People’s Bank of China.

As at the balance sheet date, the Group has the following

undrawn borrowing facilities:

AEEZRTERRFHEXRER 12
ZREABRTBERFE ([FEBRITRARH
Bl RBEBTRERE ([REARTRZE
HED RPEARRITHANE 2 S BEE
BEREEN KGR -

REEH AEEHES TIHRERZE
BRE:

2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET

Floating rate FE) B =
— expiring within one year —R—FRNER 506,741 328,984
— expiring beyond one year — R —F & E "R 448,330 561,251
955,071 890,235
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27. AMOUNT DUE TO MINORITY
SHAREHOLDER

27. BN D BRRFIA

The amount due to minority shareholder is interest-free,

unsecured and repayable on demand.

28. AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING

COMPANY

The amount due to immediate holding company is carrying

interest with reference to HIBOR, unsecured and repayable

in September 2010.

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/ASSET

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) asset

B S BRERANLE BEMRRE
EG R

28. ENNEBER A TFRE

ENEBZERARFRIATNZ2EEERITH
EREFE BERABERNEAR_ZT—F
FNAEE-

20. EEBIREE EE

recognised by the Group and the movements thereon during

the current and prior years.

FEERAERNEFEERZ EBEL
HE(BE)EEREEBHMT -

Fair value Withholding
adjustment  Accelerated  Revaluation tax on
on business tax of land and undistributed
combination  depreciation building earnings Others Total
BRER
aftz i Tk RHREF
AVERE RERE BFER ZEMB Hit @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TEL THET FTET TRT
At 1 January 2007 R-ZEZTt+t&—F—H = (299) (2,535) = 42 2,792)
Credit (charge) A (B B) FRKlER
to income statement (Hiit12)
for the year (note 12) 884 - 122 - 9 997
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EE B A &) (144,997 - - - - (144,997)
Charge to equity RRAE R - - (1,060) - - (1,060)
At 31 December 2007 RZBE+E
+=-A=+—H (144,113) (299) (3,473) - 38 (147,852)
Credit (charge) A (KRB EAKkER
to income statement (Hiat12)
for the year (note 12) 5,301 - 98 (1,848) - 3,551
Effect of change in tax rate  HEEHHRAER 2 &2
to equity - - 198 - - 198
Credit to equity RBRAE R - - 388 - - 388
At 31 December 2008 RZBENE
M=E 2=l (138,812) (299) (2,789) (1,848) 33 (143,715)
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29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/ASSET 2. EEHEBEER EE (&)
(Continued)
2008 2007
ZEENF e ke
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
Analysis: AT
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIAERE 143,748 147,885
Deferred tax assets RIETR IR A B (83) (33)
Net position e 143,715 147,852
The Group has tax losses of approximately HK$81,708,000 7N & [ 2 i IE B 18 4981,708,0000% 7T (=
(2007: HK$9,456,000) available for offset against future T T+ 4F 9,456,000/ 7T ) © A A A K 8
profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised IR Fl o B AR AR s FI 2R R B LA TR
in respect of these losses due to the unpredictability of AT ERZEEEERAELEHIBEESE -
future profit streams. Tax losses brought forward from prior VAT F 8 45 95 2 71 78 &5 48 493,207,00078
years of approximately HK$3,207,000 (2007: HK$365,000) T (ZZ T F:3650008 ) ERNAEF
have been expired in current year. The unrecognised tax JE O ° Br #969,494,000/8 T ( —EZ+F ;
losses may be forward indefinitely except the losses of 9,456,000/ 7)< BHE HR_ZEZT N F
approximately HK$69,494,000 (2007: HK$9,456,000) that E-T-=FHEWRIIN RERTIEEIE
will expire in the period from 2009 to 2013. 7] 42 R BR 45 B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

BE-FE/\E+A=+—HILFE

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES/ASSET
(Continued)

Under the New Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting HK$13,138,000 as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in

the foreseeable future.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
acquired 97.03% of the issued share capital of CHCGC
on 16 October 2007 and further receive not less than 90%
of the Disinterested shares (all the CHCGC Shares other
than those held by the Company and parties acting in
concert with the Company) to proceed with compulsory
acquisition of the entire outstanding issued share capital
of CHCGC on 30 October 2007 for total consideration of
HK$5,923,252,000. This acquisition has been accounted for
using the purchase method. The amount of goodwill arising
as a result of the acquisition was HK$3,722,639,000.

29.

30.

EEREBEERE EE &)

BREFRHFFEEZ BT N\F—H—H
A8 - 3 P BB B A B B SR I i B R 2
Ik BB TE T - RS B A B 1%
TRHREZFHER MEREZBRITEIZN
AREREBERZERE SPBEMBARR
£013,138,000/# 7T 2 E 5t FI FEAE 2 B R
EZEME ASETERGEMBRRA
TEH IR IE R IE B4 -

W B B BB A |l

RZEZT+F+_A=+—HLEFE K
EER-_TZTLFT+A+BKECHCGC
297.03%E HITRATNR =TT LF+ A
=+ B BRI E T R90%E F = 78 (R AR
D (ARFRBEARF —BMITBHALRAE
Z CHCGCHR& 1A LA b 2 FT 5 CHCGCR& 153)
LA #8848 58 ) 1 Wk BB CHCGC 2 26 14 Ak Uk B8
ZBEITIRA - 2K (8 55,923,252,000/#
ToRBWEEFERBEEAR BAIKE
EHEMEA 2 B S AS,722,639,0007

7TE0
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30. WEERI B 2~ A ()

In 2007, the net assets acquired in the transaction, and the R-EZTLF ZRHGMBEFEERM
goodwill arising, are as follows: EECEBNAT:
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount
before Fair value
combination adjustments Fair value
=Rl
WEAZ
IRE S5 AFEERE AFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FA&T FE T
Net assets acquired: IR EEE:
Property, plant and equipment (Note) 1% - /= M & 1
(K17t) 1,777,516 27,529 1,805,045
Prepaid lease payments (Note) A EEFIE (HiE) 143,940 520,556 664,496
Intangible assets (Note) mEE (Wat) - 31,901 31,901
Inventories T8 142,639 - 142,639
Trade and other receivables EUE 5 R K&
H fth & W 5k IE 130,219 - 130,219
Time deposits 7E BifF 3% 86,823 = 86,823
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITAH 346,092 = 346,092
Bank loans RITE N (723,672) - (728,672)
Trade and other payable BB SRR KR
H {th jE < 5008 (92,060) - (92,060)
Tax payable &SI IR (6,975) - (6,975)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE - (144,997) (144,997)
1,804,522 434,989 2,239,511
Goodwill P 3,722,639
Total consideration BLR(E 5,962,150
Total consideration satisfied by: BREBZIZFAHN:
Issuance of new shares BATH D 5,923,252
Direct expenses paid in connection &t U B Fff & A 7 S+t 2
with acquisition of subsidiaries HERY 38,898
Total consideration BB 5,962,150
Cash and bank balances acquired FrEEBRITEKR MRS 346,092
Direct expenses paid in connection Ft U BB B A Al S+t 2
with acquisition of subsidiaries BEERAX (38,898)
Net cash inflow arising DLETIE1S IR & RIR1TAE &R
on acquisition in respect of MERBEBEMEEZ
cash and bank balances acquired R & i A FEE 307,194
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30. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 30. WEBFH B 1 |) (40)

134

Note: The fair value of the customer base, together with the
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payment of
CHCGC are determined by an independent appraiser, Vigers

Appraisal & Consulting Limited, at the acquisition date.

In the acquisition of CHCGC in 2007, the Company issued
0.4545 ordinary shares for each CHCGC ordinary share as a

consideration.

From the date of proposed acquisition on 14 June 2007 to
16 October 2007, the Company had received acceptances
of open offer in respect of approximately 1,108,928,000
CHCGC shares. The Company issued approximately
504,008,000 ordinary shares to shareholders of CHCGC.
The fair value of the ordinary shares of the Company,
determined using the published price available at the
date of the acquisition on 16 October 2007, amounted to
HK$5,745,691,000, representing HK$11.4 per share (“Batch
A”).

From 17 October 2007 to 30 October 2007, the Company
further received the acceptances of open offer in respect of
4,720,000 CHCGC shares. The Company issued 2,145,000
ordinary shares to shareholders of CHCGC. The fair value of
the ordinary shares of the Company, determined using the
published price available at the date of the acquisition on 30
October 2007 for the relevant CHCGC’s shares, amounted
to HK$24,667,000, representing HK$11.5 per share (“Batch
B”).

Wi EPERNKBRABZATEER
CHCGCZ Mm% - B R A K IR
& FRIATY e B LA (E AN AR T B AT
BHEAERARETE -

AR T LFWRBECHCGC 5 AR
B2 #170.4545 B BB E R W EE K
CHCGCE BB 2R fE-

REZREAHR _TTLFA+HA
BEZZETLFTAT B -AQFE
Bt #91,108,928,0008%x CHCGC &% 15 U
RABEMELN - AR A E MCHCGCRKR X
17 #9504,008,000/% & i g - K 2 & &
AR ATFE(ERAKRERSH _TT+
F+HATABZAESARUEBEE)R
5,745,691,0008 ¢ - B E R EFAR11.4%8 7T
(TABL]) -

W—_ZTELtFT+A+ERAE=ZTZT L
F+A=1TH ' XARQAFE 54,720,000
CHCGCRR M B XK EI ARBEMEL - AR
Al B MICHCGCHR 3R 8 172,145,0004% & &
B o AR R EBIR 2 A FE (/U B
T EF+A=1+HBHEBCHCGCK
2 A1 S AR EEE) 524,667,000
BT HERER11.5%8 T ([B#E]) »
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30.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuead)
On 30 October 2007, the Company received valid
acceptances of open offer in respect of 1,113,648,000
CHCGC shares (“‘Batch A” and “Batch B”) representing
approximately 97.44% of the issued share capital of
CHCGC. As valid acceptances have been received for not
less than 90% of the disinterested shares, the Company
made its rights of compulsory acquisition under Section
88 of Cayman Islands Company Law to compulsorily
acquire the entire outstanding CHCGC shares amounting to
approximately 29,252,000 shares. The outstanding shares
are eligible to convert into approximately 13,295,000 shares
of the Company which it had not already acquired on 30
October 2007.

As at 31 December 2007, the Company had approximately
13,295,000 shares to be issued representing approximately
29,252,000 CHCGC shares under the compulsory
acquisition. The fair value of the ordinary shares of the
Company is determined using the published price available
at the date of the acquisition on 30 October 2007 for the
relevant CHCGC’s shares, amounted to approximately
HK$152,894,000, representing HK$11.5 per share (“Batch
©):

CHCGC contributed HK$7.7 million to the Group’s profit for
the period between the date of acquisition and the balance
sheet date as at 31 December 2007.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January
2007, total group revenue for the year would have been
HK$2,646.3 million, and loss for the year of 2007 (including
impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill arising
on acquisition of approximately HK$3,723 million) would
have been HK$3,429.1 million. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2007, nor is it intended to be

a projection of future results.

30. WAEMI B A A (#)

RZZEZTLtF+A=1+RH AQRECH
1,113,648,0000 CHCGCHk 13 ([A#L] &
[BH#t]) (#HEHRCHCGCE Z1TIRAY
97.44% ) WEI BB ARAENEL - AR A
A A B Y EI T D H90% & FI| Z B R AR D 2
BREMN RNATRBERAESESARES
88E 17 {5 5 il L AE A& 1| - LA 5 | e i 2
i AR U B 2 4929,252,0008% CHCGCRE A ©
ARARRZZETLFTA=THERKE
2B BRIk P] KA 4913,295,000/% A8 A
AR

RZEELtF+_A=+—H AQF
¥ #913,295,000/ 1§ T & 17 2 IR 5 -
1R 7% 58 il W BE - 482 7L 4929,252,0004%
CHCGCHp - AR R L MAR 2 N F1E (fF
AKERR-_TTELF+A=1THYHEH
CHCGCR M 2z RIS AR MEBEETE) A
#9152,894,000/8 7T ' IHE R & Hx11.5/8 7T
(fcH#t]) -

BUBEHARER_ZTZTLF+ - H
=t+—HZ&E R L#fE - CHCGCRAL
| %5 2 7,700,000/ T Z i Al ©

MPBEBEBER_TTLtF—-A—AHE
TR TS+ FEEFERELE
# 52,646,300,000% 7T M —ZT Tt F
FREEE(EEMUBELE HED®
R B 5 18 #93,728,000,000% 7)) # &
3,429,100,0007 7T * # & & £} Jh E 1E 3 A
B BUFAEBRRUBEEENR_ZT
+tH&F-A—BERZKBERATAEEER K
WGz WEmREEEEZ BARETR KT
BIERKRRE2TAH -
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31. SHARE CAPITAL

31. k&

Number of

ordinary shares

EBERHE
‘000 HK$’000
Tk FHT
Authorised: EERBRA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREE0.10B L il
— at 1 January 2007, 31 December -RZET+F-H—R"
2007 and 31 December 2008 —EEHE+A=1T—HK
—EENF+-_A=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRARRA:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREECI0B T2 EBR
- at 1 January 2007 “-RZZEZELF—-H—H 772,921 77,292
— issued in consideration for the — BWEECHCGCZ B B 1T AT
acquisition of the issued share BIT2RERR (A7:£30)
capital of CHCGC (note 30) 506,153 50,615
— exercise of options — {70 RE AR 2,520 252
- at 31 December 2007 -RZZEZ+F+_A=+—H 1,281,594 128,159
— issued in consideration for the -RZZEZENF AKECHCGCZ
acquisition of the issued share BEEITRAMET 2
capital of CHCGC in 2008 RE®RGD (F:1)
(Note 1) 13,295 1,330
— exercise of options —1T{F FE AR 2,080 208
- repurchase of shares (Note 2) —EERG (HiE2) (14,520) (1,452)
- at 31 December 2008 -R-E2ENF+-A=+-H 1,282,449 128,245
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (continuea)

Note 1:

In the acquisition of CHCGC, approximately 519,448,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each (note 30) were required to be issued for the
acquisition of 100% of issued capital of CHCGC. On 30 October
2007, approximately 506,153,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
were issued to the shareholders of CHCGC who accepted the
acquisition offer on or before 30 October 2007. On 9 January 2008
approximately 13,295,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each were
issued to the other shareholders of CHCGC under the compulsory
acquisition of the outstanding CHCGC shares pursuant to Section

88 of the Cayman Islands Company Law.

Note 2:

During the year, the Company repurchased its own shares on the

Stock Exchange as follows:

3. A& (&)

Kt -

AU FECHCGC » A~ A & 78 3 17 49519,448,000
fi% & AR E E0. 108 Tt 2 E @R (M 7#30) LA
BCHCGCZ 2 MEHITRA-R_TTtF
TA=Z+B RXRARARZEELFE+A=T
B 302 Al 5 4 U B8 2 49 2 CHCGCRR R B 1T 4
506,153,0000% & R E{E0.10/%8 T 2 & i A% - 7
—EENFE—ANB ERREHNSHSARE
£E88E #1758 i W 8 R U 2 CHCGCRR 15
AN R]MCHCGC Z £ fth iR 5 317 4713,295,000
% B AR E{E0.1074 7T 2 3% o

Ktz -

FAARRARBRMEDERDFHBNOT

Number of

ordinary
shares Aggregate
Month of HK$0.10 each Price per share consideration
repurchased in thousand Highest Lowest paid

BREME

0.108 T2

ZEREE BERER

Bm A5 BAF B &t &5 B BENRNKRE
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT FET
September 2008 —ZETN\FNA 6,760 1.97 1.42 11,267
October 2008 —ZEENETA 7,760 1.66 0.65 10,054
14,520 21,321

Note: The above shares were repurchased and cancelled during

the year.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the

year.

Bz - BB G AREE AR o

FRARRZHBABBREYE  HEHL
BOARRZERMLETES -
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32. SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

Equity settled share option scheme

Old share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include Directors, independent non-executive
Directors, and employees of the Company and any of
its subsidiaries and associates. The Scheme became
effective upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange on 5 October 1997 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from

that date.

As at 31 December 2008, the number of shares in
respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme was 6,900,000, representing
0.54% of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
Options may be exercised at any time from six months from
the date of grant of the share option, that is, from 1 October
2006 to 30 March 2011.

Details of specific category of share options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period

Exercise period

2. LURMB XA REZRES
DR AGEE 2B R E
EBREE
RRERAREBRE S (TFRFHE]) A
BN e Ao anE 3L (hep=y )
ZERERBSHAE -ZHEAAERZEER
BARBREEFAMNBARMBERRZ
EF BUNATESRER ZATEIR
—ANEEFE+ARB  BIARF R B
RFrEWE  EARRER  RIFBUESE
BRI EEMBRATFINAR
M7 o

RZFEZENFE+=ZA=+—8" BEZ
EEREMINKRITEZ BRIEZ BRAKRG
21 H /6,900,000 " (h XA A% B 2 B3
FTRR190.54% i A& #E AT O B AR ME 4 HH B
Mt AEAR (=TT FE+A—H
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Exercise price

A HEH 5 5A TEE
31 March 2006 6 months 1 October 2006 to HK$1.266
—EEREFE=ZA=+—H 7~ E A 30 March 2011 1.26678 JT
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32. SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION
(Continued)
Equity settled share option scheme (Continued)
Old share option scheme (Continued)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s
share options held by the Directors and certain employees

during the year:

R2.URHBIZNREZRE ()

DRAEE 2BRE S (&)
BERETE (&)
TREBRFAARANEERETEEMN
REREZZHBER:

Exercise
At Exercised At Exercised At price of
Name or category 1 January during 31 December during 31 December  Date of grant of share
of participant 2007 2007 2007 2008 2008  share options options
RZZ22+F RIZZLFE R-BBTLE RZZZNE RIBENFE R E
SEEE LR -A-8 WEf® t=A=1-H WEffE t=A=+-B BRERLEH e
HKS
BT
Directors
B
KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie 5,000,000 (600,000) 4,400,000 (360,000) 4,040,000 31 March 2006 1.266
=P ZEEAF=A=t-H
WU Yih Chin 1,500,000 (600,000) 900,000 (450,000) 450,000 31 March 2006 1.266
REU ZEENF=A=t-H
6,500,000 (1,200,000) 5,300,000 (810,000) 4,490,000
Other employees 5,000,000 (1,320,000) 3,680,000 (1,270,000) 2,410,000 31 March 2006 1.266
EitfEE —ITRE=A=1-H
Total (Note) 11,500,000 (2,520,000) 8,980,000 (2,080,000) 6,900,000
2% (ft)
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32. SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION 2. UMD ZNREZR S (#)

(Continued)

Equity settled share option scheme (Continued) URAEEZBRESS (&)

Old share option scheme (Continued) EBERETE ()

The market prices of the shares on the dates of which RAFEERERBTEABRZROTEN
options were exercised during the year were ranged from THMK1.708 T E8.93F T e

HK$1.70 to HK$8.93 per share.

Note: The 6,900,000 share options outstanding at 31 December Had: R—ZE2EENF+_A=+—H"
2008 were held by Directors and employees who were 6,900,00017 1 AR 77 {52 8 IR #E J5 /5 R FR 24X
originally seconded from T'Cement, the ultimate holding N A REYEIA BT Cementla s AT 2
company of the Company. These share options are subject EEREBFE ZEHREZITEH
to special restrictions on their exercise period: up to 40% ARERRG : SEF EBEARZ
of the share option held by each Director/employee may tEFEITEHEMSE 2 ERERZ40%
be exercised in 2007, a further 30% in 2008 and the entire RZZBZENFATESINE0% AT
balance from 2009 onwards. These share options will not NEFRBRI T 2= 2PER%E - 2 S HEARAE
lapse when the Director/employee leaves the Group and BreRNEx EEBHIAEELRMO
returns to his original employment with T'Cement; their T'Cement 2 JR T 1 =iz ifn 28 4% H 4R 1E
termination is determined by reference to the date when the TIEEE /BB EBIT CementR IE
Director/employee subsequently ceases to be employed by BzBHHEE-

T'Cement.

The estimated fair value of the options granted during 2006 N_EENEREZTEFE CERE

under the Scheme was HK$3,400,000. 1$§+”& {8 A3,400,0005% JT ©
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32. SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(Continued)
Equity settled share option scheme (Continued)

Old share option scheme (Continued)

The fair value of options granted under the Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2006 was calculated using the

Black-Scholes pricing model. The inputs into the model are

as follows:

Weighted average share price HK$1.24
Exercise price HK$1.266
Expected volatility 25%
Expected life 5 years
Risk-free rate 4.468%
Expected dividend yield 1.96%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical

volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous

one.

Because the Black-Scholes pricing model requires the input
of highly substantive assumptions, including the volatility of

share price, changes in subjective input assumptions can

materially affect the fair value estimate.

The Group recognised no expense for the year ended 31

December 2008 (2007: nil) in relation to share options

granted under the Scheme by the Company.

R2.UBRBXAREAZRS (&)

URAGEH 2 BIREE (£F)
EBKREE (E)
RBE_ZTTAF+_A=+—HILEF
B REZTEHEREBREZQAFED
BEMN TSR EERATE - RN
ZEBENAT

N5 I (B 1.247%8 7T
1TE(E 1.26678 JT
R 25%
Ta s HARR 54
2 [ B ) = 4.468%
TR AR B X 1.96%

FBERIE KB R R RIRENBE —FA
Z SR ERIE -

HRBEN SRS EERAZREAR
Z2BREE  BRBREZNE  EAEH
RERBEMHIRE( MAHAFERE
EXEATE

AEBBRRBE_ZEZENF+_A=+—
BIEFEBBAR 7$ BT BT R 2
BREZERASBETL(ZEZLF T8
JC) °
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32. SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION R.UBBIXNREZRS (#)

142

(Continued)

Equity settled share option scheme (Continued)

New share option scheme

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Directors to grant options to selected Eligible Persons
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. The basis of eligibility of any
of the Eligible Persons to the grant of options shall be
determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis
of the Directors’ opinion as to his contribution or potential
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.
Eligible Persons means any person falling within one of the

following classes:

() any Director or proposed Director (whether executive
or non-executive, including any independent non-
executive Director), employee of any member of the
Group or any controlling shareholder, a person who
controls the Company or any company controlled by a
controlling shareholder (a “Category A Eligible Person”);

or

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member
of the Group or any controlling shareholder or any
company controlled by a controlling shareholder (a

“Category B Eligible Person”);

and, for the purposes of the New Share Option Scheme,
shall include any company controlled by one or more

persons belonging to any of the above classes of persons;

DRAEE 2BRE S (&)
HEERES B

BRI EERTESED BER
BETHEEAERAL FRRFHAK
BFEZ BB SBE BB Z BB B
EAAERATERBREZER KA
EETHBRBEESTHRUAEHER LI
EAEZERMBEEERMZERMETE -
BERATHEEFABR TIEF—BZA
+:

() MAKBEEAKE QR REMZEBRAR
R AT B 2 AR R ATl 2 A BIME
BZEMESHREES (THAH
THIERTT BREMBUIFRTE
=) EBE([ABRREBALID 13

(i) AKREEMKE QB REMMERKR
A IR AR RE G 2 AT ETZ
EAEFZEAFEA (BEAER
AL

M B RAET &M S REEE LT
-\ BXEZBALEHNZEFA
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32. SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(Continued)

Equity settled share option scheme (Continued)

New share option scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at
the date of adoption of the New Share Option Scheme.
The Company can grant share options to subscribe upto
77,292,200 shares of the Company under the New Share
Option Scheme. The 10% limit may be refreshed with the

approval of shareholders of the Company.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Any option
to be granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-

executive Director who is the grantee of the option).

If a grant of option to a substantial shareholder or
independent non-executive Director (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
already granted and to be granted to such person under
the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and in excess of HK$5
million, such further grant of options is required to be

approved by shareholders.

2.UBBZARE RS (&)

UIRAGE BREE (F)

R ENE (F)
RITERBNBRET R L 2 BREM
A TRIT2RNESE a XN EHBBFE
it B ERME BB EHITRH10% ° &
DA A ARGR BT RS AR RE AT B B AR - BA
REE TR % 77,292,200 A& 2 7 B A7 o A& R
RAREALER  Z10% EBRAT FEH -

KRR R BRI - AE ] A T RER—
FRAERLRAIEER 2 BIRE T AT
BTk TRETZIRNDER  TRER
RRBREMBEREHITHRM1% - LRE
E ARAEBITBABHEEBR (K
EXZBZEABEAN) BB BERE AL
VHATES (TEREAG RBREAR
AN EMBILIFRITES ) k-

WEAARBEFERRABIIIFRITES
(HIBREZ B ZEAHEAN) BB EMBER
B BEBRNEBERBERL BB IEERA
128 A RETTERBR B ERETE RAD
AIEMEMBREGESEMZALTELR
BEEHZERE (BEETE BEHER
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32. SHARE BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION R.UBRBIZNREZRS (#)

(Continued)

Equity settled share option scheme (Continued)

New share option scheme (Continued)

The option period commences on the Commencement Date
(the date upon which the options are deemed to be granted
and accepted) of such options and ends on the close
of business on the day immediately preceding the tenth

anniversary thereof.

The exercise price per share shall be determined by the
Board, being at least the higher of (i) the closing price of
the shares on the date on which an option is offered to an
Eligible Person, which must be a business day (“‘Offer Date”);
(ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the offer date, and (iii) the

nominal value of one share.

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the adoption date,
of 23 May 2006. As at 31 December 2008, no option had
been granted under the New Share Option Scheme since its

adoption.

For the details of the New Share Option Scheme, please
refer to the circular of the Company on 10 May 2006 which

is available in the Stock Exchange’s Website.

BB 2 6 IR AR B ()
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33. RESERVES

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the fair value of the combined net
assets value of the subsidiaries involved in the Group
reorganisation in September 1997 and the assets, liabilities
and undertakings which relate to the import and distribution
of cement carried out by Hong Kong Cement Manufacturing
Company Limited prior to the Group reorganisation (the
“Relevant Business”), as if they were acquired by the
Group when the subsidiaries and the Relevant Business
commenced operations, and the nominal value of the

Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly-foreign owned enterprises, one of the Company’s
PRC subsidiaries is required to appropriate an amount of not
less than 10% of its annual after tax profit to the statutory
reserve fund, which may be used to increase the paid-up

capital of the PRC subsidiary.

33. & 1E

BABRERR
AEBZBABBEARER-ANLF
NAETEASRZNBRARZEHEE
FE ARBREMNBARRASEEER
A2 BBXEERDBNREZKRER K
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 34. RIKRE R T &
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement AEEBRERGEELAESEKRD A&
benefits scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund ER2HEBESTEZEERY TEHEX
Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”) for employees who are RREHMETE ([REEETE]) - BAMHK
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions REEHEECEAF A TAEDLE
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic W RIERTE ST IR A B R B am &
salaries and are charged to the profit and loss as they Mk -RESFECEERBYEREES
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF BE HAEEEEIAERE -AEEZE
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately FTHA—BRERESFEEL  BBRE
from those of the Group in an independently administered BB HHASE 2 IEBEA 2 UE
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with HORATRER - IS E 2 8 E 8RR EF S
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, RiFRE S ERANBRETAEE -
except for the Group’'s employer voluntary contributions,
which are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC REBMRTFREzHBAREE A+
are members of state-managed retirement benefit plans BEEHR s BEBRERERRENFE 2
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries B-ZEMBARAZRREE S & 2 X @E
are required to contribute a specified percentage of EADLMEREBEAFEIELHE B
payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes to fund FMETEIRME © - RSB A MR KRB
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect EloE—BEEARELIEEHERK-
to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified
contributions.
The total expense recognised in the consolidated income NEEZFTE 2 HAIEE 2L XENZSE
statement of HK$5,266,000 (2007: HK$1,926,000) T &l 2 K485 135,266,000 T (—ZTF
represents contributions payable to these plans by the +4F 1,926,000 ) " ZEAEREGE

Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. W R ERAR -
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I =

35.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 26 and
amount due to immediate holding company net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
net of accumulated losses. The Directors of the Company
review the capital structure on annual basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the
risks associates with each class of capital. The Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as

the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

3. EXEREE

AEBzEAERBEERAEEASER
BAIARSEDALE ANEREETE
ERERAEHREBERRRETREAM
B BEFREASEEBRBRTTE -
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The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments, trade and other receivables, loan receivables,
bank deposits and balances, trade and other payables,
bank borrowings and amount due to immediate holding
company. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include credit risk, other price risk, interest
rate risk, currency risk and liquidity risk and the policies
applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set out
below. Management monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36.cRTE
Categories of financial instruments LRI A ZER
2008 2007
—EENF —TELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHET
Financial assets cHEE
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) BEAFEFAEBRE
— Held-for-trading investments —RERXZABIRE 257,810 335,038
Loans and receivables BRI W RIE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BEReMRESEE) 1,344,186 1,230,816
Available-for-sale financial assets At EsmEE 58,713 71,664
Financial liabilities TEEE
Amortised cost 3H K AN 4,308,702 3,276,318
Financial risk management objectives and policies B R EE B ZEREBE

AEBEZIESRITABRERAKRE &
W 5 B R B EL At B R OR R SR
RUTFRRESR BNESRAREME
NHE - ROTEERENEBERARR
H-REeMTAZHBEREHZME
BE - TXHINEZSZEHTEEHEZRA
B (BHEEERR HMEREAR - FEE
@ BEREBRERBDESRER) RAEEN
REZERRMEBIERR - EEER
ERZFRR AR M KA SO R E
R B
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties, is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective financial
assets as stated in the consolidated balance sheet. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with high credit-standing.

The Group’s mainly trades on terms based on prepayments
and letters of credits in most of the transactions and as at
31 December 2008 the Group’s account receivables spread
over a number of counterparties. Thus, the management

considers that the risk is adequately monitored and does not

expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

36.£FTH %)
MEEREERERKE (&)

EERRE
RZTZENF+=ZA=+—RH WHFH
KREBITEAMRASERIZVHIEL
AIREEEAZ EAEERBRTIALE
EEBERMISSMEEZREAME
o ABEERBRRERE AEEERE
BEZR—#ABBEETEEERE 8
EHREMERRR  UBRKRURER
HEYT[E] 28 B 2 BR K o hON - REERSEE
B BEERNE 2 EHE 2 7] W e &5
UAREAR Bt A I B 2 SRR 1E B 40 2 BB
EREE UM E EFRAAEEZE
E R B KSR -

nBETZEERRER RARHFT
BREBRIFZRIT

ERBARZHH NEBEERBIAEN
KA ERBER/EEZGRIETRS &
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €T A (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continueqd)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for all loan
receivables (2007: 100%) and 83.3% (2007: 91.1%) of the

total trade receivables as at 31 December 2008.

The Group has also concentration of credit risk as the loan
receivables were due from three (2007: two) borrowers
within the manufacture and distribution of cement, clinker

and slag powder business segment.

In order to minimise the credit risk on the loan receivables,
the management of the Group closely monitor the follow-
up action taken to recover any overdue loans. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each borrower
at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the Directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk on the loan receivables is significantly

reduced.

MEERREERRERE (&)

EEmRRE (&)
AEEZEERBREMEMS EE2EF R
FECER=ZTEENF+_A=+—HZ
2HEKER (ZZEZTLF:100% ) & &
WE SHHIBHERE283.3% (ZTETLF:
91.1%) °

MR BE K 2 HKOR - R R IR B K ¥ 15
DHMEERE=F (ZETLF WMA)E
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REEREERZEERBREEZRE K&
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to floating-rate bank borrowings, loan
receivables, amount due to immediate holding company
and bank balances. The Group currently does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise. The fair value interest rate risk on
bank deposits is insignificant as the fixed deposits are

short-term.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, LIBOR and
benchmark loan rates of financial institutions set by
The People’s Bank of China arising from the Group’s

borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for financial
instruments at the balance sheet date. The analysis
is prepared assuming the loan receivables and bank
balances net of bank borrowings and amount due to
immediate holding company at the balance sheet date
and net balance was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of

the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continueq)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2008
would increase/decrease by HK$13,910,000 (2007:
increase/decrease by HK$10,903,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on
its variable-rate bank borrowings.

(i) Currency risk

The Group is mainly exposed to United States Dollars
(“USD”) and HKD.

Certain bank balances and bank loans of the Group
are denominated in foreign currencies (see note 26 for
details). The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
loan. However, management monitors the related
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should

the need arise.

36.

EWMIT AR (&)
BEEKREE R EERE (F)

mE R (E)
(i) FEmEE (&)

(ii)

WREE D (E)

M R 18 SR B01E £ 28 B AT A H fth Al
ENF+_A=+—BUEFEZEIE
i # 313,910,0008 T (Z 2Tt
4 #5510,903,0008 L) c B E B
HRAREEZ FEHERBITEEZF
KRR AT

B Hm e
AEBEXEFRETRBTAR-

AEBEZETRITAERRRITERIA
SNEESIE (FBRME26) - AEH
BRI B B IMNE E 52 SN R
R A EREREEEABINER
B URBEFBEREBE HEANINE
[z
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36.Em T A (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies HEREREEBZHEBCR (&)

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued) TSR (&)

(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) EEERE (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a TRAVNWAEEHETRBTHEH
reasonably possible change of 5% in exchange rate et BB ARK ZIEEXTEB% 2 E
of USD and HKD against relevant functional currency BEH o HRE RSAEHEMES
of Renminbi (“RMB”), while all other variables are o WHREDNEBFE N ALEE
held constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only ZONESEREIEE RN SEFE BIE
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary INEEF E5% F BB LIRS -

items and adjusts their translation at each balance

sheet date for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

2008
—EENEF
HK$’000
FET
(Increase) decrease in loss for the year REZREE (Em)md
— if RMB weakens against USD — AR HETLIHE (39,604)
— if RMB strengthens against USD —fMARBHETLRSE 39,604
— if RMB weakens against HKD —fMAREHLAETHE (12,449)
— if RMB strengthens against HKD —fMAREH B THES 12,449
2007
—TTLE
HK$’000
FAT
(Increase) decrease in loss for the year REFZER GEm) R
— if RMB weakens against USD — AR HETIHE (5,459)
— if RMB strengthens against USD —MARKEHETRE 5,459
— if RMB weakens against HKD — AR HABITIHE (4,968)
— if RMB strengthens against HKD —fMARBHEABITLARSE 4,968
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continueq)

(1)

Other price risk

The Group’s equity investments at each balance
sheet date exposed the Group to equity security price
risk. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly

concentrated on equity securities listed in Taiwan.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks in respect

of held-for-trading investments at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective held-for-trading
investments had been 20% higher/lower, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 December 2008 would
decrease/increase by HK$51,562,000 (10% higher/
lower in 2007: decrease/increase by HK$33,504,000)
as a result of the changes in fair value of held-for-

trading investments.

The Group's sensitivity to held-for-trading investments
has decreased during the year mainly due to
the decrease in held-for-trading investments. In
management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the price risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposures during the

year.

36.

EWMIT AR (&)
BEEKREE R EERE (F)

TR ()
(i)  EMAEREE S

AEERSHEAZRARESAKE
EREBRAEFERAR - EEES
ERERAEATRREREE 2KEM
BREEMER - AKHEZRERER
EETREE LM IBAES-

BRE DT
ATHREIFTIRERREBRHE
BRER B Rig 2 E 2 BRER KM
BE-

MREBERHRERIRBRZIREZEBR
EFTER20% - Al R TR 5 B
BZRENTEEY BUEASEE
E_EEN\F+_A=+—HIFE
Z B, 1851,562,000/% 7T (=
ZT+FEER LA TRE10% : EiE
B, 1833,504,000/% 7T ) °

FRARKEZHERZAEZRELZ
FRECRE TZ2HARFEXZH
BZRERLAR - EEERS AR
FIR R I S AT BRF A e - B
BREIMATKKREBER -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36.Em T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies HEREREEBZHEBCR (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk REE LA
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors REERDESRARME ASEERER
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed REE IEE@Z%}EEKiZﬁ(ﬁ&fﬁﬁ%
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s B URAEEZERHES LRERS
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash MER s wE EREEERITEE
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank BB UBRRFTEERZHNZRE -

borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant REFEKERITEEEARBDESCEE
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2008, the Group RKBE-RZZEENF+_A=+—H K
has available unutilised short-term bank loan facilities of SEBENHAMmEARDHZEPRITER
approximately HK$955,071,000 (2007: HK$890,235,000). F[E 49 5955,071,0008 7T (ZET L4
Details of which are set out in Note 26. 890,235,000/ 7T ) © H 5F 158 pA T 726 o
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual TRFIIAEESHE R Etra REIH
maturity for its financial liabilities. For non-derivative financial B -FIETESRMABENS @ R IIBE
liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the AEBENRZEREAHzeREEPR R
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the HHRBEeRNERYE BREINEEEAERE
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The ME o

table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

36.£FTH %)

MEERREERRERE (&)

REELEE (&)
B E & K E @R %

Weighted
average Total
effective Repayable 1-3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate on demand months to 1 year 1-5years 5 + years cash flows amount
mERY RERE ERZE E3 1)
EBA=R ®E 1238 A - 1258 56N BeRas REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AAlt TET THET TR TiER TR TR TiER
2008 ZE2ENE
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTESBER
Trade and other payables ERBSERK
A ERHE N/A
TR - 299,100 175,964 - - 475,064 475,064
Amount due to minority shareholder R P EBRFRE N/A 17,619 - - - - 17,619 17,619
TER
Bank loans BITER Note
Mgk - 78,991 1,190,578 2,581,028 - 3,850,597 3,550,519
Amount due to immediate ERERER
holding company NAFE Note
Mgk - 1,991 5,974 269,483 - 277,448 265,500
17,619 380,082 1,372,516 2,850,511 - 4,620,728 4,308,702
2007 ZERLE
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTESRMAR
Trade and other payables ERESERR
EMERRE N/A
TER = 110,567 125,094 = = 235,661 235,661
Amount due to minority shareholder EROBRETE N/A
TiER 17,567 - - - - 17,567 17,567
Bank loans ROER Note
MizE = 124,359 963,690 2,369,670 = 3,457,719 3,023,090
17,567 234,926 1,088,784 2,369,670 ~ 3,710,947 3,276,318
Note: Bt it -

The bank loans and amount due to immediate holding company of

the Group are variable-rate loans which carry interest with reference

to HIBOR, LIBOR and benchmark loan rates of financial institutions

set by The People’s Bank of China.

AEBZRTERRENEBERABRIEAR
FREREF NE2EFBRITAERS RA
RITARFE NP EARBITAGEZ SR

BERELERN R R -
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I =

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

° the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded on
active liquid markets are determined with reference to

quoted market bid prices;

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable

current market transactions as input.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, loan
receivables, pledged bank deposit, time deposits, cash and
bank balances, trade and other payables and amount due
to minority shareholder approximate their respective fair
values due to the relatively short maturity of these financial
instruments. The Directors considered that the fair value
of the loan to an associate at the balance sheet date is
not significantly different from its carrying amount. The
Group’s bank borrowings and amount due to immediate
holding company are mainly variable-rate borrowings
which are carrying at prevailing market rate. The carrying
amount is approximate to their fair value. The fair values
of other classes of financial assets and financial liabilities
are disclosed in respective notes to consolidated financial

statements.

36. M I A (&)

TREERERABZATE
TREENERBEIATFEEELT:

o ABEREHERRGERRARRE™
ET?Z%@ﬁF&%ﬂE%Z’$
BN2EMEMBEAEEE:

e HiheREBENERMABBZIAFTETD
BRERAUBET SR P ERAFELA
WIEBESRENITALE Y —BAZ
EEBENETE -

FE W 2 B 5K K B FE MR IR - IR E 3R~
EERBTEX EHREX RERRT
RERR - B B B BR 0 N E A A SRR [ R
ﬁ@%k% R REEREEEZAF
BERE RASZFER T ADBEHE
HB-BF2ERR BTHERRZERZAF
ERNGEERRAREEYBERER A
SEZRITEERENEBZER QR FHIA
TERBRATTENRFEZIHE 1
5 REEEEAVERS HMERzZE
BEEREBRABZAFERGEMBER
RZEMEWE -
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37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. E R AL
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHT
Capital expenditure in respect of ERTABRARNEGSE B
acquisition of property, BREABEIEBEYSE
plant and equipment contracted WEREHEIEARATH
for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 899,921 760,274
38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 8. REHANAE
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding REER AEBEBRTARE  LERY
commitments for future minimum lease payments under ZBEREHEERBHEE B KRBT ZE
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: B HERBHOT:
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHT
Within one year —F R 6,220 7,036
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_FEERF
(BREEMF) 22,756 25,457
Over five years th i@ 1 77,479 82,146
106,455 114,639
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by KEHNESEASERES THEME
the Group for certain of its rented premises. Leases are EAzHe mERNTFHRE=F-

negotiated for an average term of three years.
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39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2008, assets with the following carrying

amounts have been pledged to secure borrowings of the

39. EEH A

RZZZENFFTZA=+—B UTEKHA
BZEECER UEFRAEBZEE (4

Group (Note 26). F26) °
2008 2007
—EEN\HF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH T
Property, plant and equipment W% BB k& 1,746,785 1,339,189
Prepaid lease payments A EERE 619,891 632,437
Pledged bank deposit BHEIRRITERK 452 3,651
2,367,128 1,975,277
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40. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances set out in
notes 9, 19, 23, 25, 27 and 28 to the consolidated financial

statements, during the year, the Group entered into the

following material related party transactions:

40.

BEEALRS

ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ?éﬁﬂﬂiﬁi‘%w?ﬂ +19+23+25-27

K28Ffilt 7 32 5 R A5 RRIN - INRNEFE - A&
B Tﬁllékﬁﬂ AERS:

Transactions of a recurring nature REHEEZRS
Transactions (i) to (ix) also constitute connected transactions BOEBXNERZ IMEKERFIES LT
as defined under the Rules Governing the Listing of RAFTAE 2 BERS
Securities on the Stock Exchange:
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Wiz TET FET
()  Purchases of cement and () MEEERDE
clinker from the ultimate RRZKHEA A
holding company and a fellow BE KR &R
subsidiary (@) 179,469 40,837
(i)  Sales of cement to a related party (i) [[1— & @& A LHENE
(Note 1) (Hiat1) (b) 39,290 13,071
(i)  Purchases of clinker from a (iy M—BEEALTEERH
related party (Note 1) (HiaE1) b) 63,133 17,033
(v) Maintenance service fee of (iv) ENRZRHEARZEM
a computer software system BURG EREE
payable to fellow subsidiaries (a) 2,718 3,296
(v)  Logistic and unloading services fee (v) EN—HRAZRWERRZ
payable to a fellow subsidiary MRREEREE (@) 2,884 4,937
(vi) Jetty services fee payable to vi) E—2EEALZIGE
a related party (Note 1) REE (Hiz1) (@) 519 -
(vii) Rental expenses (i) EN—HRRINERRZ
payable to a fellow subsidiary e @) 4,320 4,320
(viii) Rental expenses payable to (vii) R —HEEARZESE
a related company (Note 2) (Hra2) (@) 1,258 1,824
(ix) Implementation services fee of (ix) ESRREWEBARZEHM
a computer software system BHERCERREE
payable to fellow subsidiaries (@) - 8,860
(x) Sales of cement to an associate  (x) [A1— EEEE R Al E KR (b) 45,070 33,658
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40. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 40.BBEALTRS ()

(Continued)

Transactions of a recurring nature (Continued) REMBZRS (&)

Notes: KT -

(1) The related party is the subsidiary of the substantial (1) ZBEEATDHEARRETERRZMEAR
shareholder. Ale

(2)  The related company is an associate of the ultimate holding (2 ZBELANEEERAR ZEE AT
company.

The remuneration of key management personnel which TEEBABZME (FEEEHL ) RHE

represents the Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in note 1139 55 -

11.

Notes: Hiat -

(@) The prices of these transactions were determined between () ZERFZERBINEFLZ2EERITZ
the parties with reference to the agreements signed. BHEEBE -

(b) The price of these transactions were determined between the b) ZEXFZEBEBITHEFTREMSER
parties with reference to market prices. BT
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41. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Place of

incorporation/

Nominal value
of issued

ordinary shares/

HEATE
A3

ARERZZTENFR 2 LF+ A
—t+—BZEEWBRARIZFEBOT:

Proportion of

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
BRTEER
WEARERE SR AR S R EE it B HEMRAEE EEREERLL A TEXK
Directly Indirectly
B fl &
Anhui King Bridge Cement PRC Registered capital = 60%  Manufacture and distribution
Company Limited* H US$15,000,000 of slag powder
ZHRFEBIRBRAF I & SHER D HBEER
15,000,000 7
Chiefolk Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary = 70%  Investment holding
BE HK$1,000,000 REER
1,000,000/ 7T
Jurong TCC Cement PRC Ordinary = 100%  Mining of limestone and
Company Limited*’ H US$173,000,000 production and sales of
(previously known as Chia Hain T mK cement and cement
Jingyang Cement 173,000,000 7T products
Company Limited) RAEARAREER
AR RRIRER AR HE KR RO E M@

(AiEEMRERRERAR)
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41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

HE TN\ F+-A=+—HIFFE

Nominal value
of issued

ordinary shares/

M. MEBAT (&)

Proportion of

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
BRITEER/
WELRERE RS HEMRAEE EEEERERL A TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B &
Chia Hsin Cement Greater China Cayman Islands Ordinary 100% - Investment holding
Holding Corporation HEEHS US$11,429,000 REER
B (R B ZRAR AR TRk
11,429,000% 7T
Dragon Pride International Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary = 100%  Dormant
(“BVI")/Philippines US$100 TmED
RBRAES BBk
(RZ#S]) 100 T
/FRE
HKC Investments Limited Taiwan Ordinary = 100%  Investment holding
BERERNER LA =y | NT$695,000,000 REER
BBk
695,000,000%T & &
Hong Kong Cement Company Hong Kong Ordinary - 100% Import and distribution of
Limited B HK$10,000 cement
gL EAORDHKR
10,000/ 7T
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41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Nominal value
of issued

ordinary shares/

M. MEBRAT (&)

Proportion of

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
BRTEER/
WEARERE RS- E3: HEfRAEE EiEEERERLLH TEXEH
Directly Indirectly
B il
Jingyang Industrial Limited Hong Kong Ordinary — 100% Investment holding
REEXERAR EE HK$24,000,000 REER
L
24,000,000/ 7T
Jurong Jingda Clay Company PRC Registered = 93.3%  Mining of clay
Limited*? F RMB3,000,000 A+
AARRE/RLERAF? A&
AR #3,000,0007T
Koning Concrete Limited Hong Kong Ordinary = 100% Investment holding
£ HK$100 REER
L
10078 7T
TCC Cement Corporation Philippines Ordinary - 100%  Dormant
FEE Peso 91,020,500 EEXB
EREL
91,020,500 &
TCC Fuzhou Cement Company PRC Registered capital - 100%  Manufacture and distribution
Limited*’ H US$16,250,000 of cement
BMERKEERRE M AR AR SHERDHIKOR
16,250,000 7
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41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

HE TN\ F+-A=+—HIFFE

M. MEBAT (&)

Nominal value
of issued

ordinary shares/

Proportion of

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
BRTEER
WELRERE MR E K HEfRAEE EEEERERL A TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B %
TCC Fuzhou Yangyu Port Company ~ PRC Registered capital - 100%  Provision of port facility
Limited*’ H US$5,000,000 services
BINARFEFESR A R 1M AR AR RIS R RS
5,000,000 7
TCC Hong Kong Cement (BVI) BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary 100% - Investment holding
Holdings Limited RRES /BB US$1,000 REER
BBk
1,000% 7T
TCC Hong Kong Cement BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary = 100%  Property holding
Development Limited RRHEE /BB Us$10 RENE
Deferred™*
US$90
R
10%7T
B
90ETT
TCC Hong Kong Cement BVI Ordinary = 100%  Investment holding
(International) Limited BRH#S US$100 REER
100 T
TCC International (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary = 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited B HK$10,000 REER
ARBR () ERAA ERELS
10,000/ 7T
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41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Nominal value
of issued

ordinary shares/

M. MEBRAT (&)

Proportion of

Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
BRTEER
WELRERE MR E K HEfRAEE EEEERERL A TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B %
TCC Liuzhon Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - 70%  Investment holding
ARIMABR L F BB HK$10,000 REER
TR
10,000/ 7T
TCC Liuzhou Construction Materials  PRC Registered capital = 42%*  Manufacture and distribution
Company Limited* H US$13,500,000 of slag powder
WO BRI E M B R 2 R AT AR A SLER D HEEY
13,500,000 T
TCC Yingde Cement Company PRC Registered capital - 100%  Manufacture and distribution
Limited*’ H US$179,400,000 of cement and clinker
Ak (EE) KRR AR RN SHER D AR R AR
179,400,000% 7L
Ulexite Investments Limited BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary 100% - Investment holding
REHE /BB US$100 REZR
EREL
100E 7T
Ying Xin Yingde Cement Co. Ltd.*”  PRC Registered capital = 100%  Dormant
R (RR)KRERRRY i US$2,000,000 LEEh
Rl &N
2,000,000 7T
Zhenjiang City Dantu District Gaozi ~ PRC Registered = 93.3%  Mining of clay
Clay Company Limited*? i RMB3,000,000 RS
BITARERERTEREERA? BRIl

AR #3,000,0007T
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41. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

*

*1

*2

*k

Registered as equity joint ventures registered under the PRC

law.

Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprise registered

under the PRC law.

Registered as limited liability companies registered under the

PRC law.

A subsidiary of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and, accordingly, is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of

the Company’s control over it.

The deferred shares of TCC Hong Kong Cement Development
Limited are non-voting, carry no rights to dividends and are
only entitled to a return of capital when the surplus exceeds
US$1,000,000,000,000,000,000,000.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had in issue any debt securities at
31 December 2008.

M.MEAT (&)
* B BIRIEFELOIF Mo & &R A

Y BERBIREF EZYEMN 2 I EEE
=,

2 BRRBRES BEPEMNZ FREELR
e

AR AZHZENERAZHELRF H
Vi YT E - el b NPT
B o

TCC Hong Kong Cement Development
Limited.Z i #E f 3¢ T~ ] & & Z 4% - Ih T
B #RREZHET A (EEHGER
1,000,000,000,000,000,000,0002& it #5
T B RBEERERA -

EREIAZZERRYANFEEEREK
TEEFEYABRASEEEFEZETE
HOZARRBEIMNBEBLRF - EFESRE - #F
HfBARZFHE SERBRITK -

R-ZZNF+T-_A=+—0 HENE
RABEITERMES -
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Financial Summary

B HME
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—ETNE  ZETRE  ZTERF  ZTTLF  ZBENF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHT THET TER
Results £
Revenue Y25 315,835 418,002 980,418 1,829,168 2,822,827
(Loss) profit for the year ARARREMN
attributable to shareholders of ~ AEE (F1E)
the Company 4 7 328,132 50,002 (18,303)  (3,506,645) (155,523)
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment %1% - BB K% & 503,693 1,410,042 1,611,004 3,873,850 5,053,368
Prepaid lease payments BANHEERE 50,102 50,611 64,728 714,897 702,429
Intangible assets B EE 10,732 10,811 18,602 95,720 63,829
Non-trading securities IRHER S REEH 94,892 - - = =
Available-for-sale investments [ HERE = 77,741 71,564 71,564 58,713
Long term loan receivables REERER - 7,690 - - -
Long term deposits REFER 1,800 1,943 1,756 720 720
Deposit for the acquisition of WEEME BB R
property, plant and equipment  REZF & - - 157,715 645,713 302,561
Interests in associates and loan ~ Ef& R EIHER K
to an associate g NEER 108,395 123,913 130,584 130,199 133,085
Deferred tax asset EERIEEE - - 42 33 33
Current assets MENEE 1,154,112 963,197 1,121,333 1,943,076 2,104,941
Total assets BEE 1,923,726 2,645,948 3,177,328 7,475,772 8,419,679
Liabilities =R |
Current liabilities mEBE 660,493 710,096 915,705 1,391,178 2,038,968
Other non-current liabilities Hi3ERBEE 11,631 659,079 941,426 2,017,728 2,375,499
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHESE 2,152 4,815 2,834 147,885 143,748
Total liabilities BafE 674,276 1,373,990 1,859,965 3,556,791 4,558,215
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